Pathological Study on the Pathogenesis of the Pancreatic and Renal Lesions in Chickens after Experimental Infection with the 9a5b Newcastle Disease Virus Mutant Isolate

高病原性変異ニューカッスル病ウイルス(9a5b)の実験 感染による膵臓病変および腎臓病変の病理発生に関する 病理学的研究

Amanallah Ahmed Fahmy El Bahrawy

September 2016

Pathological Study on the Pathogenesis of the Pancreatic and Renal Lesions in Chickens after Experimental Infection with the 9a5b Newcastle Disease Virus Mutant Isolate

高病原性変異ニューカッスル病ウイルス(9a5b)の実験 感染による膵臓病変および腎臓病変の病理発生に関する 病理学的研究

Amanallah Ahmed Fahmy El Bahrawy

Thesis submitted to the United Graduate School of Veterinary Science at Yamaguchi University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Takehito Morita, Ph.D., Chair Yuji Sunden, Ph.D Masahiro Morimoto, Ph.D Toshihiro Ito, Ph.D Tsuyoshi Yamaguchi, Ph.D

The United Graduate School of Veterinary Science Yamaguchi University 2016

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

At the beginning, my deepest thanks to my god (Allah Almighty and the most merciful) for blessing me with the life and made me believe in him. Thanks my god for giving me the ability to finish this thesis. Warm and heartily thanks to the soul of my father, my mother and my brother for their lovely, relentless and continuous support and without their support I could have never finished this work. I thank the Egyptian government for giving me the chance to study abroad and to finish my dream.

Thanks too much for all of the wonderful people in the Department of Veterinary Pathology, Faculty of Agriculture, Tottori University for the continuous support and hospitality during my stay in Japan. My deepest gratitude and sincere appreciation goes to my principal supervisor Prof. Dr. Takehito Morita for accepting me in his laboratory and his patience, guidance, motivation, trust and believing that I can finish my research well. Also, I am heartily grateful to Prof. Dr. Yuji Sunden for his invaluable source of support, help and advisement. Thanks too much to Prof. Dr. Akinori Shimada for accepting me in his laboratory and to sign my acceptance letter. I want to thank Prof. Dr. Toshihiro Ito (Department of public Health, Tottori University) for his guidance and help during this study. Also, my great thanks to Prof. Dr. Hiroshi Ito (Department of public Health, Tottori University) for his kind help, support and great scientific guidance. I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Masahiro Morimoto (Yamaguchi University) for his advices and sharing his scientific skills with us. I cannot find the words to describe my feeling and appreciation to my colleague and older brother Dr. Anis Zaid (Department of Veterinary Pathology, University of Sadat city) for his big help, great support and sharing his experience with me during this study. I want to thank Dr. Masashi Sakurai (Yamaguchi University) for his efforts and support. Thanks to Dr. Kasem Rattanapinyopituk (Chulalongkorn University, Thailand) for his help in transmission electron microscopy samples preparation. I would like to thank the members of the Department of Veterinary Pathology and especially Tomita Nagi. Also, thanks to Prof. Dr. Isam Ali and Dr. Ahmed Magzoub for their help.

Also, I want to express my great and sincere appreciation to all members of the Department of Pathology, Faculty of Veterinary medicine, University of Sadat City, especially Prof. Dr. Hamdy Salem for his great and invaluable support, and Prof. Dr. Salah El-Ballal for his motivation and kind support. Thanks to my colleague Dr. Mostafa Abdel-Gaber for support and encouragement.

Finally, I am deeply grateful to my lovely big family in Egypt and my lovely and close family in Japan, my wife and life partner, and my lovely kids Ahmed, Maryam and Hajar for their patience and kind support than I cannot express it.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Review of literatures	5
2.1. Newcastle Disease History	5
2.2. Etiology of Newcastle Disease	7
2.3. Paramyxoviruses Serotypes	11
2.4. Newcastle Disease Virus (APMV1) Pathotypes	12
2.5. Pathogenicity Tests	13
2.6.1. Mean Death Time (MDT)	13
2.6.2. Intravenous Pathogenicity Test (IVPI)	13
2.6.3. Intracerebral Pathogenicity Index (ICPI)	13
2.6. Molecular Basis for NDV isolates Pathogenicity	14
2.7. NDV pathogenesis and replication	16
2.8. NDV transmission	19
2.8.1. Sources of NDV particles	19
2.8.2. Type of NDV transmission	20
2.8.3. Factors contribute to the widespread of NDV	21
2.9. Virus hosts	21
2.10. Incubation period	22
2.11. Clinical signs	22
2.12. Gross pathology of NDV	24
2.13. Histopathology of NDV	25
2.14. Ultrastructural changes in NDV infections	27
3. Aim of the study	31
4. Materials and Methods	34
5. Results	42
6. Discussion	
7. Summary and Conclusion	
8. References	

Abstract

Newcastle disease virus (NDV) infection in bird usually causes systemic infection and widespread pathological lesions in most of body organs. Pancreatic and renal pathologic lesions are usually reported during NDV infection in several avian species for example chicken, turkey, pigeon, goose and double-crested cormorants. Until now, little is known about pancreatic and renal lesions in NDV infections and the pathogenesis of NDV in the pancreas and kidney of infected chickens remains unclear. Previously, a comparative study between chickens and ducks after experimental infection with 9a5b mutant NDV was performed by our laboratory and the pancreatic and renal lesions were more prominent in chickens than ducks; therefore, we aimed in this study to investigate the pathogenesis of pancreatic and renal lesions in chickens using the same isolate in detail from an early infection phase 6 hours postinoculation (6 hpi) till the late phase of infection 10 days postinoculation (10 dpi). Also, to investigate the pathogenesis of NDV strains that may spontaneously mutate from avirulent to virulent ones. The virulent 9a5b mutant NDV isolate was inoculated intranasally in 32-day-old specific pathogen-free white Leghorn chickens. The pancreas and kidney was grossly examined and both fixed in formalin for histopathological and immunohistochemical investigations. Pancreas was fixed in gluteraldehyde for electron microscopic examinations. The kidney was further examined by RT-PCR and virus titration. In the chicken pancreas, inflammatory changes were observed in the peripancreatic tissue at the early stage of infection (12 hpi) and became more prevalent towards the end of the experiment. Multifocal areas of necrotizing inflammation were detected in the exocrine portion of the pancreas by 5 dpi and became more severe at 10 dpi. The endocrine islets were generally preserved, but slight degenerative changes were observed at 10 dpi. Immunohistochemistry (IHC), NDV-nucleoprotein (NP) positive signals were detected in the peripancreatic soft tissues (macrophages and other lymphoid cells) by 1 dpi. In the exocrine portion of the pancreas, NDV-NP positive signals were detected at 5 dpi and increased in intensity and distribution by 10 dpi. NDV particles were confirmed in the cytoplasm of exocrine acinar cells by transmission electron microscopy. CD3-postive cells were observed preferentially in the peripancreatic soft tissues earlier than in the pancreatic tissue. Moreover, in comparing with control chicken, insulin immunopostivity was unchanged, except on the last day of experiment, when insulin IHC was slightly reduced. In the kidney study, histopathologically, tubulointerstitial nephritis was detected in both renal cortex and medulla but it was more Nephrotropism of the 9a5b NDV isolate in the abundant in the medulla. chicken kidneys was confirmed by IHC, RT-PCR, and virus isolation from an early time after infection (1 dpi). Virus detection was consistent among these three methods and started at 1 dpi, peaked at 5 dpi, and diminished at 10 dpi. Massive degenerative changes and infiltration of CD3 immunopositive cells accompanied replication of the 9a5b NDV isolate in chicken kidneys from 1 dpi.

In conclusion, the 9a5b NDV infection in the chicken pancreas initially induced inflammatory reaction and viral replication in the peripancreatic soft, and spread to the pancreatic parenchymal tissue. Furthermore, necrosis affected mainly the exocrine portion of the pancreas while the endocrine portion was generally unaffected by the NDV infection. In the chicken kidney, the 9a5b NDV mutant isolate had showed a nephrotropism to the chicken kidney from an early time after infection (1 dpi). Tubulointerstitial nephritis was more severe in the renal medulla than the cortex. Local inflammatory response in kidney tissues may play an important role in suppressing viral replication. Pathological changes that were caused by NDV in the chicken kidneys were similar to those caused by avian influenza virus, infectious bronchitis virus, and avian nephritis virus and this highlights the importance of including ND in the differential diagnosis of kidney disease in chickens.

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

The thesis is based on the following original publications:

- El-Bahrawy, A., Zaid, A., Sunden, Y., Sakurai, M., Ito, H., Ito, T., Morita, T.
 Pathogenesis of Pancreatitis in Chickens after Experimental Infection with
 9a5b Newcastle Disease Virus Mutant Isolate. *Journal of Comparative Pathology*, 2015;153(4):315-23.
- El-Bahrawy, A., Zaid, A., Sunden, Y., Sakurai, M., Ito, H., Ito, T., Morita, T.
 Pathogenesis of Renal lesions in Chickens after Experimental Infection with
 9a5b Newcastle Disease Virus Mutant Isolate. *Veterinary Pathology Online, Published online July 1, 2016.*

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

APMV	:Avian Paramyxoviruses
CD3	:Cluster Differentiation 3
cDNA	:Complementary DNA
dpi	:Days postinoculation
EID ₅₀	:50% Egg Infectious Dose
F	:Fusion Protein
H_2O_2	:Hydrogen Peroxide
HE	:Hematoxylin and Eosin Stain
HN	:Hemagglutinin-Neuraminidase Protein
hpi	:Hours postinoculation
Hrs	:Hours
ICPI	:Intracerebral Pathogenicity Index
IHC	:Immunohistochemistry
IVPI	:Intravenous Pathogenicity Index
L	:RNA Polymerase Protein
М	:Matrix Protein
MDT	:Mean Death Time
mm	:Millimeter
ND	:Newcastle Disease
NDV	:Newcastle Disease Virus
NDV-NP	:Newcastle Disease Virus Nucleoprotein
ng	:Nanogram
nm	:Nanometer
NP	:Nucleoprotein

OIE	:Office International des Epizootics
Р	:Phosphoprotein
RNP	:Ribonucleoprotein Complex
RT-PCR	:Reverese Transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction
SPF	:Specific Pathogen Free
TEM	:Transmission Electron Microscopy
Vol	Volume
wt	Weight

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: The work plan of this study.

Table 2: Collected tissues samples and their methods of investigations.

Table 3: Summary of APV serotypes (1-13).

Table 4: Histopathological lesions in chicken pancreas after experimentalinfection with 9a5b NDV mutant isolate.

Table 5: Distribution of NDV-nucleoprotein antigen in chicken peripancreatic and pancreatic tissue by IHC.

Table 6: Insulin IHC reactivity in chicken pancreas after experimentalinfection with 9a5b NDV mutant isolate.

Table 7: Summary of gross and histopathology lesions in chicken kidneys after

 experimental infection with 9a5b NDV mutant isolate.

Table 8: Intensity and distribution of renal gross lesions, histopathology and immunohistochemistry of NDV-nucleoprotein and CD3 staining in individual chickens after experimental infection with 9a5b NDV mutant isolate.

LIST OF REVIEW FIGURES

Fig. 1: The global scenario of NDV outbreaks in the world (Ganar et al., 2014).

Fig. 2: NDV structure: a. Schematic diagram of Newcastle disease virus structure (Ganar *et al.*, 2014); b. Negative staining and electron tomographic analysis of Newcastle disease virus. 44-nm thick digital section taken at the level of the envelope. Bar = 100 nm. Inset; Glycoprotein protruding from the envelope. Bar = 10 nm (Miller and Koch, 2013).

Fig. 3: Newcastle disease virus RNA editing Phenomenon; incorporation of single G or two G residues at the RNA editing site could give rise to V or W, respectively (Ganar *et al.*, 2014).

Fig. 4: Newcastle disease virus genomic organization (Seal et al., 2000).

Fig. 5: Schematic representation of Newcastle disease virus genome highlighting the rule of six essentially means that a nucleocapsid protein can bind effectively to six nucleotides. The area between the genes shown in black represents Inter Genomic Sequences that vary in size from 1 to 47 nucleotides (Ganar *et al.*, 2013).

Fig. 6: Schematic representation of Newcastle disease virus replication. HN protein attaches to sialic acid receptors on cell surface, resulting in fusion. The negative sense viral RNA is transcribed to produce the structural mRNAs, with the help of RNA dependent RNA polymerase. The negative sense RNA is converted to positive sense template for the synthesis of new negative sense RNA genome. This newly formed genomic RNA is then wrapped in N, P and L proteins to form the nucleocapsid that is assembled with matrix and surface glycoproteins and released from the host cell (Ganar *et al.*, 2014).

LIST OF MATERIALS & METHODS FIGURES

Fig. A: Chickens were reared in negative-pressure isolators under biosafety level 2 and were supplied with water and food *ad libitum*.

Fig. B: Specific pathogen free (SPF) chickens were inoculated intranasally with 100 μ l (10^{8.75} 50% EID₅₀) of 9a5b NDV mutant isolate.

LIST OF RESULTS FIGURES

Fig. 1: Chickens infected with the 9a5b NDV mutant isolate showed sleepiness, openmouthed breathing and closed eyes at 4 dpi.

Fig. 2: Chickens infected with the 9a5b NDV mutant isolate returned to almost normal state with slight depression by the end of the experiment (10 dpi).

Fig. 3: Chicken pancreas, 2 dpi. The pancreas is partially congested and mottled (arrow). Scale = 1mm.

Fig. 4: Chicken pancreas, 5 dpi. The pancreas was mottled with the presence of white necrotic foci (arrows). Scale = 1mm.

Fig. 5: Chicken peripancreatic soft tissue, 1 dpi. Mild infiltration of lymphocytes and macrophages in the peripancreatic soft tissue (arrows). Some inflammatory cells invade the pancreatic lobe peripherally (arrowhead). A: artery; F: Fat cells; N: Nerve; P: Pancreas. HE, X20.

Fig. 6: Chicken peripancreatic soft tissue, 10 dpi. Severe inflammatory reaction in the peripancreatic soft tissue. A: artery; F: Fat cells; P: Pancreas. HE, X40.

Fig. 7: Chicken pancreas, 5 dpi. Inflammatory nodules in the exocrine portion of the pancreas (asterisk), and infiltration of heterophils (arrow) and other mononuclear cells. En: endocrine; Ex: exocrine. HE, X20.

Fig. 8: Chicken pancreas, 10 dpi. Necrotizing pancreatitis with inflammatory reaction in the exocrine pancreas (arrows), the endocrine islets are slightly affected, En: endocrine; Ex: exocrine. HE, X20.

Fig. 9: Chicken peripancreatic soft tissue, 1 dpi. NDV-NP strong immunopositive signals in the cytoplasm of macrophages (arrow) and other lymphoid cells in the peripancreatic soft tissue. IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X40.

Fig. 10: Chicken pancreas, 10 dpi. Immunopositive signals for NDV-NP in the blood vessels monocytes. IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X20.

Fig. 11: Chicken pancreas, 5 dpi. A few immunopositive signals of NDV-NP in the cytoplasm of degenerated exocrine acinar cells. Inset, NDV-NP positive signals in the degenerated exocrine cells were observed. En: endocrine; Ex: exocrine. IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X40

Fig. 12: Chicken pancreas, 10 dpi. Marked immunopositive signals of NDV-NP in the degenerated exocrine cells, marked multifocal areas of necrotizing pancreatitis (arrows). Inset, NDV-NP positive signals in the macrophages (arrowhead) and exocrine cells (arrow) were observed. IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X40.

Fig. 13: Chicken pancreas, 10 dpi. Newcastle disease virus-like particles were observed in the cytoplasm of exocrine acinar cells (arrow). Transmission electron microscopy (TEM), Bar = 200 nm.

Fig. 14: Chicken pancreas, 12 hpi. CD3 immunopositive cells infiltrated the peripancreatic soft tissue (arrowhead) and started to infiltrate the adjacent pancreatic tissues (arrow). P, Pancreas. IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X40.

Fig. 15: Chicken pancreas, 1 dpi. CD3 immunopositive cells infiltrated the peripancreatic soft tissue (arrowhead) and invaded the adjacent pancreatic tissue forming small nodules (arrows). IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X20.

Fig. 16: Chicken pancreas. 10 dpi. Marked CD3 immunopostive cells infiltrated the exocrine portion of the pancreas. IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X40.

Fig. 17: Chicken pancreas. 10 dpi. Marked CD3 immunopostive cells infiltrated around the pancreatic duct. IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X20.

Fig. 18: Chicken pancreas. Control. Strong insulin immunopostive signals in the endocrine islets of the pancreas. En: endocrine; Ex: exocrine. IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X40.

Fig. 19: Chicken pancreas. 10 dpi. Slight reduction of insulin immunopostive signals in the endocrine islets of the pancreas which surrounded by inflammatory cells (arrow). En: endocrine; Ex: exocrine. IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X40.

Fig. 20: Chicken kidney, 3 dpi. Mild dilatation of the medullary cones (asterisk) associated with heterophils (arrow) and other mononuclear cells infiltration (arrowhead). *Inset*: Magnification of the heterophils. HE. X20

Fig. 21: Chicken kidney, 5 dpi. Moderate to severe infiltration of inflammatory cells in the interstitial tissues of kidneys. *Inset*: Magnification of lymphocytes and macrophages HE. X10.

Fig. 22: Chicken kidney, 5 dpi. The renal tubules lining epithelium at the cortical region was vacuolated (thin arrow), necrotic (thick arrow) and apoptotic. HE, X40. *Inset*: NDV-NP positive immunosignals were observed in vacuolated renal epithelium. IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X20.

Fig. 23: Chicken kidney, 10 dpi. Severe multifocal dystrophic calcification (arrow) in the kidney associated with mononuclear cells infiltration. HE, X40.

Fig. 24: Chicken kidney, 5 dpi. NDV-NP immunopostive signals were observed in the renal tubular epithelium. IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X40. *Inset*: Magnification of NDV-NP immunopostive signals in the renal epithelium.

Fig. 25: Chicken kidney, 2 dpi. NDV-NP immunopostive signals were observed in the glomerular cells (arrowhead), tubular epithelium (thick arrow) and mononuclear cells (thin arrow). IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X40. *Inset*: Positive NDV-NP in the glomeular cells. IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X40.

Fig. 26: Mild infiltration of CD3 immunopositive cells in the kidney at 1 dpi. IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X40.

Fig. 27: Severe infiltration of CD3 immunopositive cells in the kidney at 10 dpi. IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X40.

Fig. 28: Chicken kidney, 3 dpi. CD3 immunohistochemistry shows nodular and diffuse interstitial infiltration of CD3 immunopositive cells and occasional CD3 immunopositive cells (arrow) within the tubular epithelium. IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X20.

Fig. 29: Kidney; chicken, 5 dpi. CD3 immunopositive signals were observed in the interstitium around renal tubules with positive immuno-signals for NDV-NP. IHC, haematoxylin counterstained, X20. *Inset*: NDV-NP immunopositive signal in a renal tubule surrounded by interstitial, mononuclear inflammatory cells. IHC, haematoxylin counterstained X20.

Fig. 30: Individual viral titer in chicken kidneys at indicated times post inoculation. Kidneys from 3 individual chickens evaluated at each time point are represented as a, b and c. The dashed line represents the virus detection limit. Undetectable samples were given a half of detection limit value. Virus titers were determined in 10-day-old embryonated SPF chicken eggs and are presented as EID50 per gram.

Fig. 31: RT-PCR of individual chicken kidneys after experimental infection with the 9a5b NDV mutant isoalte showed postive band at 168 pb.

INTRODUCTION

Newcastle disease virus (NDV) is the causative agent of Newcastle disease (ND). NDV is a single-stranded, nonsegmented, negative-sense enveloped RNA virus (de Leeuw and Peeters, 1999; Dortmans et al., 2011). The genome of NDV encodes six structural proteins: nucleoprotein (NP), fusion protein (F), RNA polymerase protein (L), matrix protein (M), hemagglutininneuraminidase protein (HN), and phosphoprotein (P) (de Leeuw and Peeters, 1999; Dortmans et al., 2011). Cleavability of F protein gene is an important factor that influences tissue tropism and viral spread. Based on F protein gene cleavability by cellular proteases, NDV strains differ in their virulence (Gotoh et al., 1992; Murphy et al., 1999; Nagai, 1995). Also, the HN gene (De Leeuw et al., 2005; Dortmans et al., 2011; Huang et al., 2004; Wakamatsu et al., 2006b) and the P gene (Wakamatsu *et al.*, 2006b) have been identified as key players in NDV virulence. According to the World Organization for Animal Health (Known as Office International des Epizootics; OIE), NDVs can be categorized into strains of high virulence (velogenic), moderate virulence (mesogenic), and low virulence (lentogenic). In chickens, the velogenic strains have viscerotropic form (characterized by marked lesions in the gastrointestinal tract and high mortality) and neurotropic form (characterized by respiratory and neurologic signs with high mortality). Mesogenic strains cause acute respiratory disease but with low mortality. Lentogenic strains induce mild respiratory infections (OIE, 2012).

The pathogenicity of NDV isolate can be determined using the intracerebral pathogenicity index (ICPI) in 1-day-old chicks. The virulent viruses will give scores close to 2.0, whereas lentogenic strains will give scores close to 0.0 (OIE, 2012). The clinicopathological characters of NDV infections are varied and depend on many factors, including the method of infection, host, and virus strain (Alexander, 2003).

The F cleavage site sequence of avirulent protein strains is $^{112}(G/E)(K/R)Q(G/E)$ RL 117 which is only susceptible to trypsin-like enzymes found in the respiratory and digestive tissues, causing localized infection. While, the F protein cleavage site sequence of virulent strains is $^{112}(R/K)$ -R-Q-(R/K) RF¹¹⁷ which is susceptible to ubiquitous intracellular host proteases, enabling them to induce systemic infection (de Leeuw et al., 2005; Glickman et al., 1988; Miller and Koch, 2013; Toyoda et al., 1987). Avirulent wild waterfowl viruses, having the typical avirulent fusion protein cleavage site sequence, have the potential to become velogenic after passage in chickens (Shengqing et al., 2002; Tsunekuni et al., 2010). The virulent 9a5b NDV mutant isolate was generated from the lentogenic Goose/Alaska/415/91 strain by nine consecutive passages in chicken air sacs, followed by five passages in chicken brain (Shengqing *et al.*, 2002). The original strain has an ICPI of zero and avirulent F protein cleavage site compared with the 9a5b NDV mutant isolate that has an ICPI equal to 1.88 and a virulent F protein cleavage site (Shengqing *et al.*, 2002). Furthermore, a genetic comparison between the original lentogenic Goose/Alaska/415/91 and the 9a5b NDV mutant isolate demonstrated that 3 amino acid substitutions in the HN proteins, causing change in the inactive HN_0 precursor (found in avirulent viruses) to biologically active HN protein (found in virulent viruses and are responsible for the virus attachment to the host cell and promotes F protein fusion activity) (Huang *et al.*, 2004; Lamb and Kolakofsky, 2001; Robert, 1993; Takimoto *et al.*, 2002; Tsunekun *et al.*, 2010).

Pancreatic and renal pathologic lesions are usually reported during NDV infection in several avian species for example chicken, turkey, pigeon, goose and double-crested cormorants. However, little is known about pancreatic and renal lesions in NDV infections and the pathogenesis of NDV in the pancreas and kidney of infected chickens remains unclear. Previously, a comparative study between chickens and ducks after experimental infection with 9a5b mutant NDV was performed and the pancreatic and renal lesions were more prominent in chickens than ducks (Anis *et al.*, 2013a); therefore, we aimed in this study to investigate the pathogenesis of pancreatic and renal lesions in

chickens using the same isolate in detail from an early infection phase (6 hpi) till the late phase of infection (10 dpi). Also, to investigate the pathogenesis of NDV strains that may spontaneously mutate from avirulent to virulent ones.

Review Of Literature

2.1. Newcastle disease history

In 1926, the first official outbreak of ND was reported in Java, Indonesia (Kraneveld, 1926). In 1927, the disease was reported in Newcastle-upon-Tyne, England (Doyle, 1927), from where the name "Newcastle disease" was originated (Doyle, 1933). Many authors believed that ND was presented before its official documentation for example, outbreaks in Central Europe (Halasz, 1912), Korea in 1924 (Levine, 1964), Ranikhet, India (Edwards, 1927) and in the Western Isles of Scotland in 1896 (Macpherson, 1956). ND has spread throughout the world within a few years (Senne *et al.*, 1983; Spradbrow, 1988) and continues to emerge in both endemic and epidemic forms (Brown *et al.*, 1999).

Since the first recognition of the disease, four panzootics of NDV had occurred (Alexander, 2001). Southeast Asia was the location of the first panzootic and this panzootic extended slowly through Asia to England and Europe in 1926 and then worldwide spread has occurred by the early1960s. By the late 1960s, the second panzootic started in the Middle East and most countries infected by 1973 (Within 4 Years) (Hanson, 1972). The increase in the international trade of poultry and caged psittacine species and poultry industry development are among the reasons which have facilitated the spread of the second panzootic (Francis, 1973; Walker *et al.*, 1973). This panzootic has entered California, USA through caged birds (Francis,

1973; Hanson, 1972). The third panzootic has occurred in the late 1970s and was recognized from the antigenic and genetic analysis of NDV, which indicated that probably there is a spread of a third virulent virus different from the other 2 panzootic. In comparing with the previous two panzootic, the start and spread of this panzootic were unclear probably due to the universal vaccination against ND (Herczeg *et al.*, 2001; Lomniczi *et al.*, 1998). The fourth panzootic of ND was occurred in the Middle East in the late 1970s and originated from the pigeons and doves (Kaleta *et al.*, 1985). This panzootic was characterized by nervous signs similar to the neurotropic form of ND in chickens but without respiratory signs. By 1981, ND had reached Europe (Biancifiori and Fioroni, 1983) and became a worldwide pathogen.



Fig. 1: The global scenario of NDV outbreaks in the world (Ganar et al., 2014).

2.2. Etiology of Newcastle Disease

Newcastle disease virus (NDV) is the causative agent of Newcastle Disease (ND) (Brown *et al.*, 1999). NDV is a member of the order Mononegavirales in the family Paramyxoviridae, genus Avulvirus (Wise *et al.*, 2004). NDV is a nonsegmented, single-stranded, negative-sense enveloped RNA virus (de Leeuw and Peeters, 1999; Dortmans *et al.*, 2011). Newcastle disease virions or Avian paramyxoviruses virions are pleomorphic, filamentous and/or round in shape (Alexander *et al.*, 1983a; Briand *et al.*, 2012; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2015; Yusoff and Tan, 2001) with a diameter ranged from 100 to 500 nm (Miller and Koch, 2013; Yusoff and Tan, 2001). The viral genome encodes six structural proteins: nucleoprotein (NP), fusion protein (F), RNA polymerase protein (L), matrix protein (M), hemagglutinin-neuraminidase protein (HN), and phosphoprotein (P) (Fig. 2).



NDV structure: A. Schematic diagram of Newcastle disease virus structure (Ganar *et al.*, 2014); B. Negative staining and electron tomographic analysis of Newcastle disease virus. 44-nm thick digital section taken at the level of the envelope. Bar = 100 nm. Inset; Glycoprotein protruding from the envelope. Bar = 10 nm (Miller and Koch, 2013).

The viral nucleocapsid has a diameter of about 18 nm and 1 mm in length (Alexander et al., 1983a; Briand et al., 2012; Yusoff and Tan, 2001) and is formed by three proteins; NP to which the P and L proteins connected forming the herringbone-like ribonucleoprotein complex (RNP) (Lamb and Parks, 2007; Yusoff and Tan, 2001). The L protein is the largest structural protein of NDV (Yusoff et al., 1987) and its precise functions is unknown (Yusoff and Tan, 2001) but it can contribute with the P protein in synthesis of the virus RNA (Hamaguchi et al., 1983). The P gene encodes two further proteins V and W by the RNA editing phenomenon (Fig. 3) which means to add one or two G at the RNA editing site (Catolli et al., 2011; Lamb and Parks, 2007; Steward et al., 1993). V and W proteins are present only in the virus infected cells (Ganar et al., 2014). The virus attachment and fusion to the host cell membrane is a responsibility of the two surface glycoproteins (F and HN). Also, the F and HN proteins have the ability to induce protective immunity (Meulemans et al., 1986; Nagy et al., 1991). The F protein has trimer spikes whereas the HN protein has tetramer spikes (Ganar et al., 2014) and the spikes length is varied from 8 nm to 10 nm (Lamb and Parks, 2007; Yamamoto et al., 2015). The M protein is a hydrophobic non-glycosylated matrix protein (Yusoff and Tan, 2001) located under the virus membrane and is responsible for virus assembly and budding (Pantua et al., 2006).



Fig. 3: Newcastle disease virus RNA editing Phenomenon; incorporation of single G or two G residues at the RNA editing site could give rise to V or W, respectively (Ganar *et al.*, 2014).

NDV strains are classified into two classes, class I and class II. Class I includes mildly virulent viruses circulating among wild birds in the US live-markets (Seal *et al.*, 2005), while class II includes 16 genotypes with varying degree of virulence (Kapczynski *et al.*, 2013). The viral genome (Fig. 4) of class I and class II viruses consists of 15,198 and 15,186 or 15,192 nucleotides, respectively (Czeglédi *et al.*, 2006).



Fig. 4: Newcastle disease virus genomic organization (Seal et al., 2000).

The "rule of six" (Fig. 5) is a phenomena needed by all NDV isolates for efficient viral replication (Calain and Roux, 1993) where the genomes are in multiple of six nucleotides in the vast majority, if not all NDV isolates (Peeters *et al.*, 2000).



Fig. 5: Schematic representation of Newcastle disease virus genome highlighting the rule of six essentially means that a nucleocapsid protein can bind effectively to six nucleotides. The area between the genes shown in black represents Inter Genomic Sequences that vary in size from 1 to 47 nucleotides (Ganar *et al.*, 2013).

2.3. Paramyxovirus serotypes

The paramyxoviruses isolated from avian species are divided into nine serotypes (APMV 1~9) based on haemagglutination inhibition and neuraminidase inhibition assays (Ganar *et al.*, 2014). Recently, new serotypes have been identified and paramyxoviruses extended to include 13 known serotypes (Briand *et al.*, 2012; Fornells *et al.*, 2012; Goraichuk *et al.*, 2016; Terregino *et al.*, 2013; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2015). Summary of APMV serotypes (1-13) is present in Table 3.

NDV is known as avian paramyxovirus serotype-1 (APMV-1) to be distinguished from other serotypes of avian paramyxoviruses (Tumova *et al.*, 1979a). NDV is the only well-characterized serotype due to its economic importance and infection to most of avian species (Nayak *et al.*, 2012); in contrast to serotype-1, little is known about the other APMV serotypes and their biological characteristics and pathogenicity still remains unclear (Nayak *et al.*, 2012). APMV (2~9) usually isolated from wild birds (Mundt, 2013). Complete genome sequences of APMV (2-9) were reported (Kumar *et al.*, 2008; Nayak et al., 2008; Paldurai *et al.*, 2009; Samuel *et al.*, 2009, 2010; Subbiah *et al.*, 2008; Xiao *et al.*, 2009, 2010). APMV serotypes were classified into specific lineages or clades based on serological (monoclonal antibodies) and phylogenetic studies (Alexander, 2000).

2.4. Newcastle disease virus (APMV-1) Pathotypes

Based on the severity of clinical signs seen in infected chickens (Alexander and Senne, 2008), NDV strains can be divided into five pathotypes (viscerotropic and

neurotropic velogenic, mesogenic, lentogenic and asymptomatic) (OIE, 2012). The velogenic strains are divided into viscerotropic and neurotropic strains; Viscerotropic strains characterized by marked lesions in the gastrointestinal tract and high mortality while, the neurotropic strains characterized by respiratory and neurologic signs with high mortality. Mesogenic strains cause acute respiratory disease but with low mortality. Lentogenic strains induce mild respiratory infections. Asymptomatic usually considered a subclinical enteric infection (OIE, 2012).

These pathotypes are formerly named Hitchner form for Asymptomatic enteric and lentogen, Beaudette form for mesogen, Doyle form for velogenic viscerotropic and Beach form for velogenic neurotropic (Beard and Hanson, 1984). Pathotype classification is not clear-cut because considerable change and overlapping of the clinical signs sometimes observed (Alexander and Allan, 1974).

2.5. Pathogenicity tests

Standard pathogenicity parameters is performed to classify NDV pathotypes and this includes mean death time (MDT), intravenous pathogenicity index (IVPI), and intracerebral pathogenicity index (ICPI). **2.5.1. Mean death time (MDT):** In this assay, the time of chick embryo death is recorded after inoculation of the allantoic sac. The higher NDV virulence is the shorter the MDT. Lentogenic viruses have an MDT greater than 90 hours (hrs), mesogenic strains have an MDT of 60-89 hrs, whereas the velogenic isolates have an MDT of less than 60 hrs (Hanson and Brandly, 1955).

2.5.2. Intravenous pathogenicity index (IVPI): This test is performed by intravenous inoculation of 6-week-old chickens with infective allantoic fluid (0.2 ml/ bird) and observing birds daily for 10 days. After inoculation, numbers of healthy, sick, paralyzed and dead birds were used to calculate the IVPI of an isolate. The IVPI values ranged from 0 to 3.0; velogenic strains have IVPI approach 3.0, while lentogenic strains and some mesogenic strains have IVPI values of zero.

2.5.3. Intracerebral pathogenicity index (ICPI): This test is performed in chicks over 24-hrs and under 40-hrs old at the time of inoculation. 0.05 ml of the fresh infective allantoic fluid with a haemagglutinin titer greater than 16 and diluted in 1/10 sterile isotonic saline are injected intracerebrally in each of 10 chicks. The birds are examined daily for 8 days and scored: 0 if normal, 1 if sick, and 2 if dead. The ICPI is the mean score per bird per observation over the 8-day period. The virulent viruses will give scores close to 2.0, whereas lentogenic strains will give scores close to 0.0 (OIE, 2012).

In the past, intravenous pathogenicity test and mean death time were used to characterize NDV virulence (Alexander and Senne, 2008), but now no longer used and the ICPI is the official recognized test by the World Organization for Animal Health (OIE). Newcastle disease has to be reported if the virus has an ICPI greater than 0.7 or have multiple basic amino acids at the fusion cleavage site (molecular basis for NDV isolate pathogenicity) (OIE, 2012).

2.6. Molecular basis for NDV isolate pathogenicity

Genome sequence of NDVs is now the most convenient step performed by many laboratories to characterize NDV strains (Miller and Koch, 2013).

Envelope of NDV has a surface glycoprotein called the F protein which is a key player in NDV virulence, enabling the virus to fuse with the host cell membrane (De Leeuw *et al.*, 2005; Panda *et al.*, 2004; Romer-Oberdorfer *et al.*, 2003). The F protein is present as inactive precursor (F0) and must be cleaved by the host proteases to active forms (F1 and F2) for the virus particles to be infectious (Ganar *et al.*, 2014; Scheid and Choppin, 1974). The F protein cleavage and activation does not require acidic pH (Ganar *et al.*, 2014).

The cleavage specificity is determined by the amino acid sequence present at the cleavage site and varies with the type of the strain (Glickman *et al.*, 1988; Toyoda *et al.*, 1987). The F protein cleavage site sequence of avirulent strains has a monobasic amino acid sequence motif at the C-terminus of the F2 protein and a

leucine at the N-terminus of the F1 protein ¹¹²(G/E)(K/R)Q(G/E) RL¹¹⁷ which is cleaved by trypsin-like enzymes found in certain tissues such as the respiratory and digestive tissues, causing localized infection. While, the F protein cleavage site sequence of virulent strains has a multibasic amino acid sequence motif at the C-terminus of the F2 protein and a phenylalanine at the N-terminus of the F1 protein ¹¹²(R/K)-R-Q-(R/K) RF¹¹⁷ and is cleaved by ubiquitous intracellular host proteases, enabling them to induce systemic and fatal infection (de Leeuw *et al.*, 2005; Glickman *et al.*, 1988; Miller and Koch, 2013; Toyoda *et al.*, 1987).

Pathogenicity indices have some drawbacks and can be criticized (Cattoli *et al.*, 2011; Dortmans *et al.*, 2011). For example, strains that have been classified as virulent strains based on their pathogenicity indices and F protein cleavage site (Susta *et al.*, 2011; Wakamatsu *et al.*, 2006a) but does not produce severe clinical disease (Anis *et al.*, 2013a; Dortmans *et al.*, 2011, Susta *et al.*, 2011; Wakamatsu *et al.*, 2006a). These drawbacks usually rose with strains isolated from species other than chickens (Anis *et al.*, 2013a; Pearson *et al.*, 1987). Also, intracerebral inoculation, not being the natural way of infection, may lead to a difference in ICPI value when compared with the natural route of infection (Dortmans *et al.*, 2011) and NDV virulence is multigenic and the F protein gene is not the only key player in NDV virulence (De Leeuw et *al.*, 2005; Dortmans *et al.*, 2011; Huang *et al.*, 2004; Wakamatsu *et al.*, 2006b). (Cattoli *et al.*, 2011) reported that "A more accurate

indication of the true pathogenicity of ND viruses for a susceptible species could come from experimental infection of a statistically significant number (≥ 10) of young and adult birds with a viral standard dose (e.g. 10^5 EID_{50}) administered via natural routes (e.g. oro-nasal route)".

2.7. NDV pathogenesis and replication

NDV pathogenesis is multigenic and several viral genes have been identified as key players in the pathogenesis such as F, HN, P, NP, L and V proteins (Brown *et al.*, 1999; De Leeuw *et al.*, 2005; Dortmans *et al.*, 2010, 2011; Huang *et al.*, 2003; Huang *et al.*, 2004; Romer-Oberdorfer *et al.*, 2003; Wakamatsu *et al.*, 2006b). NDV is a negative sense RNA virus and has the same replication strategy followed by the vast majority of negative sense RNA viruses (Lamb *et al.*, 2005). NDV replication cycle is the fastest among parmyxoviruses with viral yields peaked within 12 hpi (Hightower and Bratt, 1974).

Replication process started with the virus attachment to the host cell (Ganar *et al.*, 2014; Hines and Miller, 2012; Yusoff and Tan, 2001). All viral replication events occur within the host cell cytoplasm (Hines and Miller, 2012). NDV infection occurs primarily via pH-independent pathway and sometimes by receptor mediated endocytosis or caveolae-dependent endocytosis (Ganar *et al.*, 2014).

NDV attaches through its surface protein HN to the cell receptors such as sialic acid residues (gangliosides and N-glycoproteins receptors) (Ganar *et al.*, 2014;

Hines and Miller, 2012; Yusoff and Tan, 2001). Actual viral receptors on the host cells are still unknown (Yusoff and Tan, 2001). Due to the attachment of the HN protein to the host membrane some conformational changes may occur, allowing the activation and exposure of the F protein to the host membrane and then successful virus cell fusion (Hines and Miller, 2012; Yusoff and Tan, 2001).

After fusion, the M proteins detached from the nucleocapsid by unknown mechanism to free the viral nucleocapsid into the cell cytoplasm and begin the replication and transcription process (Yusoff and Tan, 2001). NDV genome is negative-sense RNA, so the L proteins alone (Hines and Miller, 2012) or in combination with the P protein act as the viral RNA polymerase (Yusoff and Tan, 2001), helping the negative genomic RNA to transcribe to the positive sense mRNA which then translates into viral proteins (Ganar et al., 2014). The positive sense RNA is then used as a template for the synthesis of negative sense genomic RNA (Ganar et al., 2014). The HNO and FO glycoproteins, are synthesized in the rough endoplasmic reticulum, whereas the viral structural proteins (NP, P, L and M) and the non-structural proteins V and W are produced in the cytoplasm (Yusoff and Tan, 2001). The glycoproteins undergo some post-translational modifications and then transported across the endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi apparatus (Yusoff and Tan, 2001). N, P and L proteins are essential for nucleocapsid assembly (Ganar et al., 2014). The nucleocapsid proteins align within the new membrane to form the RNP

complex (Hines and Miller, 2012) and then transported to the plasma membrane (Yusoff and Tan, 2001). The M protein is essential for mature NDV assembly and budding from the host cell membrane (Ganar *et al.*, 2014; Yusoff and Tan, 2001). The replication process is summarized in Fig 6.



Fig. 6: Schematic representation of Newcastle disease virus replication. HN protein attaches to sialic acid receptors on cell surface, resulting in fusion. The negative sense viral RNA is transcribed to produce the structural mRNAs, with the help of RNA dependent RNA polymerase. The negative sense RNA is converted to positive sense template for the synthesis of new negative sense RNA genome. This newly formed genomic RNA is then wrapped in N, P and L proteins to form the nucleocapsid that is assembled with matrix and surface glycoproteins and released from the host cell (Ganar *et al.*, 2014).

2.8. NDV transmission

2.8.1. Sources of NDV particles
Birds infected with NDV usually shed the virus particles in their feces, oropharyngeal secretions (Lee *et al.*, 2016; Samuel *et al.*, 2012; Susta *et al.*, 2014) and skin feathers (Lee *et al.*, 2016).

2.8.2. Type of NDV transmission

Horizontal and vertical transmission of NDV has been reported. However, horizontal transmission is more documented and reported in literatures as it is easy for birds to be infected through ingestion, drinking and/or inhalation of materials contaminated with NDV particles (Miller and Koch, 2013). Examples of horizontal transmission were reported such as eating of contaminated food by diseased pigeons (Alexander *et al.*, 1984) or oral application of live freeze-dried vaccine (Thekisoe *et al.*, 2004) and finally air borne transmission occurs through inhalation of virus aerosols (Li *et al.*, 2009) or live virus vaccine (Mazija *et al.*, 2010).

Vertical transmission or transmission of NDV from parents to their offspring is rarely reported. This way of transmission is still questionable due to the possibility of infection by contaminated feces through broken or cracked eggshell and/or exposure newborn chick to a virus contaminated materials (Miller and Koch, 2013). Another possibility is with high virus titer in embyonated eggs, a prompt embryo death and no vertical transmission will occur (Chen and Wang, 2002). However, vertical transmission and NDV tropism for the reproductive tract have been reported (Biswal and Morril, 1954; Bwala *et al.*, 2011; Silva *et al.*, 2016). Isolation of NDV have been documented in eggs (Lancaster, 1963), embryonated eggs after vaccination (Bivins *et al.*, 1950; Capua *et al.*, 1993; Prier *et al.*, 1950) and from breeder hen (Roy and Venugopalan, 2005). Also, vaccine strain has been detected in the reproductive tract (Raszewska, 1964; Silva et al., 2016). Moreover, vaccination of chicken has decreased internal egg contamination with NDV (Silva *et al.*, 2016).

2.8.3. Factors contribute to the widespread of NDV

There are some factors help the massive spread of NDV between flocks such as movement of live birds including exotic, feral, game and racing pigeons, movement of farm equipments, poultry products, and mechanical transmission of the virus through contact with farm workers and vaccines (Burridge *et al.*, 1975; Alexander, 2000). With open rearing systems, the chance of infection is more through contact with feral birds, while in closed rearing systems the chance of contact with feral birds and infection is less (Lancaster and Alexander, 1975).

2.9. Virus hosts

It is generally accepted that all birds are susceptible to NDV based on a report that NDV has been documented in at least 241 species of birds (Kaleta and Baldauf, 1988). Chickens are by far the most susceptible among birds to infection, while other birds are resistant and does not produce much clinical signs such as duck (Higgins, 1971).

2.10. Incubation period

The clinicopathological characters of NDV infections are varied and depend on many factors, including the host species, age, host immunity, virus strain, dose and method of infection (Alexander, 2003; Cattoli et al., 2011). Natural infections have average incubation period of 6 days but in other cases incubation period can be extend to 15 days. With more virulent strains, infection with viscertropic velogenic NDV has a short incubation period of 1-4 days (Miller and Koch, 2013).

2.11. Clinical signs

The severity of clinical signs widely differs and depends on the virulence of the virus and the host immune status, route of infection and age. Younger birds usually manifest more severe and acute disease than older one (Cattoli *et al.*, 2011). NDV strains can be divided into five pathotypes (viscerotropic and neurotropic velogenic, mesogenic, lentogenic and asymptomatic) based on the severity of clinical signs seen in infected chickens (OIE, 2012). Neither the clinical signs nor the gross lesions are pathognomonic for ND (Miller and Koch, 2013).

With highly virulent viruses, the disease may appear suddenly with high mortality and absence of the clinical signs (Miller and Koch, 2013). Other studies described the clinical signs with experimental infection of viscerotropic velogenic strains as started 2 dpi and include the following; mortality can reach to 100%, anorexia, weakness, green diarrhea, conjunctival swelling, ruffled feathers, tremors, prostration (Brown *et al.*, 1999; Kommers *et al.*, 2002, 2003), respiratory signs were observed very rarely (reviewed in Cattoli *et al.*, 2011).

For velogenic neurotropic form of ND, it is mainly reported in the United States (Alexander and Senne, 2008) and has longer disease course than with velogenic viscerotropic form (Cattoli *et al.*, 2011). The disease has 100% morbidity and up to 50% mortality and started with sudden onset of severe respiratory disease followed by the neurological signs (Alexander and Senne, 2008). The clinical signs are most prominent between 5 and 10 dpi and include the following; tremors, opisthotonus, head twitch, and paralysis (Brown *et al.*, 1999; reviewed in Cattoli *et al.*, 2011) and diarrhea is not always observed (Alexander and Senne, 2008).

The clinical signs of mesogenic strains of NDV in field infection are respiratory signs and drop in egg production (Alexander and Senne, 2008). Mortality rate is low except in very young and compromised birds when secondary infections are common complications of mesogenic NDV infections and result in more severe morbidity (Bhaiyat *et al.*, 1994; El Tayeb and Hanson, 2002; Nakamura *et al.*, 1994).

The clinical signs are not observed in previous experimental infection with lentogenic viruses (Brown *et al.*, 1999; Hamid *et al.*, 1990) except in cases with very young birds (Cattoli *et al.*, 2011). On the other hand, in one report mild clinical signs

were observed in 40-day-old specific pathogen-free (SPF) chickens when a lentogenic strain was aerosolized with high concentration (Kotani *et al.*, 1987).

2.12. Gross pathology of NDV

The presence of hemorrhages and necrosis in the intestinal wall and/or necrosis and hemorrhage in the gut-associated lymphoid tissue are pathogonomic for velogenic visceotropic NDV strains (Brown *et al.*, 1999; Hanson *et al.*, 1973; Kommers *et al.*, 2002, 2003; Susta *et al.*, 2011). Cecal tonsils are one of the prominent lesions in visceotropic velogenic NDV strains and usually have hemorrhage and necrosis (Cattoli *et al.*, 2011). Enlarged and mottled spleens, severe atrophy of thymus and bursa, perithymic hemorrhages and multifocal hemorrhages and ulceration in the junction between proventriculus and gizzard are usually observed with viscerotropic strains (reviewed by Cattoli *et al.*, 2011).

For velogenic neurotropic NDV strains, gross lesions are absent in the central nervous system and no characteristic gross lesions have been described (Brown *et al.*, 1999).

Mesogenic strains have minimal lesions such as mild splenomegaly and some degree of conjunctivitis (Brown *et al.*, 1999).

Lentogenic strains produce minimal or no gross lesions. In one report mild pulmonary hemorrhages and splenomegaly have been observed with QV4 strain (Hamid *et al.*, 1990), on the other hand another experiment with the QV4 does not induce any gross lesions (Brown *et al.*, 1999).

2.13. Histopathology of NDV

The lymphoid organs (spleen, thymus, bursa and cecal tonsils) are the target organs for NDV pathology. Several studies have addressed these pathologic changes in the lymphoid organs and varied between lymphoid depletion, necrosis, sometimes apoptosis and fibrin deposition (Anis *et al.*, 2013b; Brown *et al.*, 1999; Harrison *et al.*, 2011; Susta *et al.*, 2011).

2.13.1. Other organs

The brain is mainly involved in infection with velogenic neurotropic NDV strains and has multifocal perivascular cuffing, neuronal degeneration, moderate gliosis and hypertrophy of the endothelial cells (Brown *et al.*, 1999; Kommers *et al.*, 2003; Susta *et al.*, 2011; Wilczynski *et al.*, 1977). With velogenic viscerotropic NDV, perivascular cuffing has been reported (Brown *et al.*, 1999; Kommers *et al.*, 2002, 2003).

The heart has myocarditis (Susta *et al.*, 2011) associated with myofibers disruption and infiltration of macrophages and lymphocytes (Brown *et al.*, 1999; Kommers *et al.*, 2003). Vascular changes have been reported with velogenic neurotropic NDV and include hyalinization, hyaline thrombosis in small vessels and hydropic degeneration of the blood vessels media (Nakamura *et al.*, 2004). These vascular changes are seen in vessels near to the primary site of infection and are caused by intense exudation of proteins (Cattoli *et al.*, 2011).

The eye usually has prominent edema, hemorrhage, and necrosis associated with fibrin exudation especially at the site of inoculation (Brown *et al.*, 1999; Nakamura *et al.*, 2004; Susta *et al.*, 2011).

The gastrointestinal tract usually has ulceration and necrosis mainly in the area of gut lymphoid tissues such as the cecal tonsils (Brown *et al.*, 1999; Susta *et al.*, 2011). Evidence of accumulated necrotic materials in intestinal lumens has been reported (Susta *et al.*, 2011). Small focal degeneration and necrosis are observed in the liver, gall bladder, gizzard and proventriculus (Alexander and Senne, 2008)

Several experimental studies with velogenic strains (viscerotropic and neurotropic) concluded that the lung is not involved during infection or has little pathological changes (reviewed by Cattoli *et al.*, 2011). Only one report from Japan has described pneumonia in an outbreak with velogenic neurotropic NDV (Nakamura *et al.*, 2008).

The reproductive tract of chicken has mild interstitial edema, sporadic glandular ectasia, accumulations of lymphocytes and plasma cells and mild interstitial fibrosis. These changes were more observed in the uterus than in the magnum and the isthmus (Bwala *et al.*, 2011).

The pancreas usually has multifocal necrotic areas mainly in the exocrine epithelium in chicken (Alexander, 2003; Anis *et al.*, 2013a; Kommers *et al.*, 2002, 2003; Susta *et al.*, 2011; Wakamatsu *et al.*, 2006a;), turkey (Piacenti *et al.*, 2006), pigeon (Barton *et al.*, 1992; Zanetti *et al.*, 2001), and geese (Wan *et al.*, 2004).

The kidney usually has multifocal necrosis of the tubular epithelium and mononuclear cells infiltration in chicken (Anis *et al.*, 2013a; Courtney *et al.*, 2013; Kommers *et al.*, 2001), duck (Anis *et al.*, 2013a; Njagi *et al.*, 2012; Zhang *et al.*, 2011), turkey (Piacenti *et al.*, 2006), and double-crested cormorants (Kuiken *et al.*, 1999).

2.14. Ultrastructural changes in NDV infections

Several authors have performed transmission (TEM) and scanning electron microscopy to describe the ultrastructural changes in organs after infection with NDV. The trachea has been reported to have hypertrophy of goblet cells, excessive globular mucous secretion, increase in the proportion of nonciliated to ciliated epithelium, deciliation and erosions of the mucosal epithelial tracheal surface (Anis *et al.*, 2013a; Mast *et al.*, 2005). In the lung, after aerosol vaccination, there is decrease or absence of lung surfactant and their producer cells (pneumocytes) lost their cell junction and had apoptotic changes, serofibrinous exudate was observed in most of the air capillaries between the 24 and 72 hrs. Later most of these changes were reversed and lung restored to almost a normal state (Kazachka, 2008). In the

esophagus, intracytoplasmic inclusion body was occasionally observed in the endothelial cells of esophageal blood vessels (Crespo *et al.*, 1999). In the heart, shortening of sarcomeres, damaged mitochondrial (ghost-like), hemorrhage with no or little infiltration of inflammatory cells, edema and apoptosis were observed (Lam, 1996b). Blood cells (heterophils, lymphocyte and macrophages) have condensed chromatin, apoptosis (Lam, 1996a,c). In addition, macrophages have the viral particles and lost their phagocytic activity (Lam, 1996c).

AIM OF THE STUDY

NDV infection in bird usually causes systemic infection and widespread pathological lesions in most of body organs. The pancreas is frequently involved during NDV infection and the pathologic lesions in the pancreas have been reported in chickens (Alexander, 2003; Anis et al., 2013a; Kommers et al., 2002; Kommers et al., 2003; Susta et al., 2011; Wakamatsu et al., 2006a), turkey (Piacenti et al., 2006), pigeon (Barton et al., 1992; Zanetti et al., 2001), and geese (Wan et al., 2004). Also, the renal lesions induced by NDV were previously reported in chickens (Anis et al., 2013a; Courtney et al., 2013; Kommers et al., 2001), duck (Anis et al., 2013a; Njagi et al. 2012; Zhang et al., 2011), turkey (Piacenti et al., 2006), and double-crested cormorants (Kuiken et al., 1999). Kidney might be implicated in the virus excretion and possible transmission to other birds (Kuiken et al., 1999). Until now, little is known regarding pancreatic and renal lesions in NDV infections and the pathogenesis of pancreatic and kidney damage during NDV infection in birds is still unclear. An experimental infection has been performed by our laboratory to compare the pathogenesis of 9a5b NDV mutant isolate in chickens and ducks and the pancreatic and renal lesions were reported to be more prominent in chickens than ducks (Anis et al., 2013a); therefore, we aimed in this study to investigate the pathogenesis of pancreatic and renal lesions in chickens in detail using the same NDV isolate from an early infection phase (6 hpi) till the late phase of infection (10 dpi). Also, to investigate the pathogenesis of NDV strains that may spontaneously mutate from avirulent to virulent ones.

Table 1: Study design

Twenty-nine (Pancreas study) or twenty- six (Kidney study) 32-day-old male white leghorn SPF chickens were acclimatized for one week and then intranasally inoculated with the 9a5b NDV mutant isolate, and sampled as shown in this table

Inoculation	Chickens*		
	Infected		Control
	Pancreas	Kidney	
6 hpi*	4*	3	
12 hpi	4	3	
1 dpi***	4	3	
2 dpi	3	3	
3 dpi	3	3	
5 dpi	3	3	
10 dpi	3	3	5
Total	24	21	5

*; number of chickens sampled at each time point

******; hour postinoculation

***; days postinoculation

Table 2: Collected tissues samples and their methods of investigations.

Analysis	Tissue samples		
	Pancreas	Kidney	
HE*	+	+	
NDV-NP	+	+	
IHC**			
CD3 IHC	+	+	
Insulin IHC	+	_	
TEM***	+	_	
Virus titration	_	+	
PCR	_	+	

+: done; -: not done

*; Hematoxylin and eosin staining

**; Immunohistochemistry

***; Transmission electron microscopy

MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Virus

The 9a5b NDV mutant isolate used in this study was provided by the department of Veterinary Public Health, Tottori University, Japan. The virus was propagated in SPF eggs and 100 μ l of the virus suspension, containing 10^{8.75} 50% egg infective dose (EID₅₀) was inoculated by intranasal route in chickens (Shengqing *et al.*, 2002).

2. Chickens

Twenty-nine 32-day-old male white leghorn SPF chickens, purchased from Nippon Institute for Biological Science, were divided into 2 groups, control group (5 chickens) and infected group (24 chickens for pancreas study) or (21 chickens for kidney study). Chickens were reared in negative-pressure isolators under biosafety level 2, and were supplied with water and food ad libitum (Fig. A). The chickens were monitored clinically two times every day throughout the experiment. After one week of acclimatization, the 9a5b mutant isolate was inoculated in chickens by intranasal route (Fig B). Four chickens from the infected group were sacrificed at each time point 6 hpi, 12 hpi, and 1 dpi, and three chickens were sacrificed on the last day of the experiment (10 dpi). The birds were sacrificed under Halothane inhalation anesthesia. All experimental procedures were performed according to Tottori University guidelines for animal welfare, and the ethics committee of the Tottori University approved the study (<u>http://www.tottori-</u>

u.ac.jp/kouhou/kisokusyuu/reiki_honbun/u0950581001.html).

3. Necropsy and sampling

Immediately after sacrificing the birds, necropsy examination was performed and the pancreatic and renal tissues were examined for any gross abnormalities.

3.1. Tissue preservation

Collected tissues were preserved in the proper way that will be used in the analysis.

a. Neutral Buffered Formalin (NBF) fixation

Both of pancreatic and kidney tissues were fixed in 10% NBF for light microscopy and immunohistochemistry (IHC).

b. Gluteraldhyde fixation

Pancreatic tissues were fixed in 2.5% gluteraldehyde for transmission electron microscopy (TEM) investigation.

c. Freezing

Kidney tissues were preserved at -80°C for RNA isolation and virus titration.

3.2. Histopathology and IHC

After 60 hrs of fixation in NBF, fixed tissues from pancreas and kidney were

processed and embedded into paraffin blocks. Tissue sections of 4-µm thickness were cut for haematoxylin and eosin (HE) and IHC staining.

3.2.1. IHC staining of 9a5b Newcastle Disease Virus-nucleoprotein (NDV-NP).

a. Preparation of NDV-NP primary antibody

The primary NDV-NP antibody was prepared in rabbits according to the method described by Kommers *et al.* (2001). Briefly, a peptide antigen was prepared with the sequence TAYETADESETRRIC, representing residues 181-194 of the NP protein with a Cystein (C) addition for coupling. The peptide was conjugated to keyhole limpet haemocyanin and this conjugate was used to immunize a rabbit. Serum was collected from the immunized rabbit and the immunoglobulin G fraction was purified by affinity chromatography (Hokudo Bioscience, Tokyo, Japan) (Anis *et al.*, 2013 a, b).

b. Protocol for NDV-NP IHC in chicken pancreas and kidney

For NDV-NP IHC, 4- μ m thickness paraffin tissue sections from pancreas and kidney were dewaxed, rehydrated, treated with 3% H₂O₂ in distilled water for 15 minute (min) at room temperature (RT) to block the endogenous peroxidase activity, and then subjected to antigen retrieval in citrate buffer (pH 5.4) by microwaving at full power for 10 min. Sections were blocked with 10% normal goat serum for 5 min by microwaving at low power without heating and then

incubated with the primary antibody (1:8,000 dilution) overnight at 4°C (Anis *et al.*, 2013 a, b). After stringent washing with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), sections were incubated with a labeled polymer (ChemMateTM DAKO EnVisionTM/HRP [DAP]; Dako, Carpinteria, CA) for 30 min at RT and then subjected to stringent washing. The sections were detected with 3, 3′- diaminobenzidine tetrahydrochloride (Dako), counterstained with haematoxylin and covered with DPX mounting medium (Sigma Life Science, Steinheim, Germany).

3.2.2. Cluster differentiation 3 (CD3) IHC staining in chicken pancreas and kidney

The protocol used for CD3 IHC was similar to the aforementioned protocol, except that the time for antigen retrieval was 20 min and the primary antibody used was polyclonal rabbit anti-human CD3 (Dako) at 1:300 dilution.

3.2.3. Insulin IHC staining in chicken pancreas

For detection of insulin, the time for antigen retrieval was 20 min, the sections were incubated with the primary antibody (polyclonal guinea pig anti-swine insulin; Dako) at 1 : 100 dilution for 10 min with microwaving and biotinylated guinea pig immunoglobulinG (H+L) (Vector laboratories, Burlingame, California, USA) was used as the secondary antibody at 1 in 400 dilution for 5 min with microwaving.

3.3. Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) of chicken pancreas

Sampling, trimming and labeling of chicken pancreas; Small parts from the pancreas were cut by a new razor blade (0.25 cm²) on a colorless plastic plat and add a few drops of 2.5 % glutraldehyde on the sample and fix overnight at 4°C. Labeling; the samples were added in small well-caped labeled bottle.

The samples were washed in 0.1M PBS 3 times for 5 min each at RT; Post fixed in 1% Osmium Tetraoxide for 1 hr; then washed again in 0.1M PBS (until clear fluid) and dehydrated in ascending grades of alcohol for 20 min each (50%, 70%, 80%, 90%, 95% and 99%) and in absolute alcohol for 1 hr each (I and II). Followed by

- 1. QY-I (n- Butyl glycidyl ether) 30 min/ on vibrator.
- 2. QY-II (Methyl glycidyl ether) / 40 min/ on vibrator.
- QY-I: Epon (2: 1) / 30 min/ on vibrator.
 QY-I: Epon (1: 2)/ 30 min/ on vibrator.
- 5. Epon (Quelol- 812)/ 60 min/ on vibrator.
- 6. Epon/ 60 min or overnight/ on vibrator.
- 7. Embedding in Epon.
- 8. Put the embedded samples at 60°C for 3 days.

9. Store the hard embedded samples in closed tube with silica gel to absorb the moisture until semi-thin and ultrathin sections preparation and examination.

Preparation of Epon Epon 812----- Quetol 812 DDSA------ Dodecenyl Succinic Anhydride MNA------ Methyl Nadic Anhydryde DMP-30------ dimethylaminomethyl phenol Mix the first 3 components together in paper cub and mix on magnetic stirrer for 5 min then add the fourth component (DM-30) and continue mixing on the stirrer for about 15 min and the color will changed from dark yellow to reddish. 10. Semi-thin sections (1- μ m-thick) were obtained and stained with 1% toluidine blue for light microscopy; representative fields were selected to make ultrathin sections (70 nm).

11. After staining with uranyl acetate and lead citrate, ultrastructural investigation was performed using a transmission electron microscope (TEM-100CX; Japan Electron Optical Laboratory, Tokyo, Japan).

3.4. Virus titration of chicken kidney

Virus titers were determined using 10-day-old embryonated SPF eggs. Briefly, kidney tissues were homogenized in PBS [1:10 (wt:vol)], and then a 10 fold serial dilution of clear homogenate (100 μ l) was inoculated into the allantoic cavity of the eggs. After inoculation, the eggs were incubated at 37°C for 3 days, followed by 1 day at 4°C. Heamagglutination test was performed and the virus titer was expressed as EID₅₀ per gram (Reed and Muench, 1938).

3.5. RNA isolation and reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) from chicken kidney

Total RNA was extracted from kidney tissue using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The amount of RNA was measured by Nanodrop spectrophotometer (ND-1000, Thermo Scientific, USA). Extracted RNA (500 ng) was reverse transcribed to complementary DNA using PrimeScriptTM II first strand cDNA synthesis kit (Takara, Japan). For PCR, a primer set which amplify 167 base pair (pb) from the F gene was used. Primer sequence was as the following (Forward) 5'- CGC AGA TCA CAG CGG CTT CTG - 3' and (Reverse) 5'- GGT CGT TTA CAA ACT GCT GC - 3' (Tsunekuni *et al.*, 2010). PCR condition was 40 cycles consisted of : 94°C for 2 min; 94°C for 30 sec for denaturation, 56°C for 30 sec for annealing, 72°C for 20 sec for primer extension and final extension at 72°C for 5 min. 10 µl of PCR product was then analyzed using 2 % agarose gel electrophoresis. The gel was precasted with gel red nucleic acid stain (Biotium).



Fig. A: Chickens were reared in negative-pressure isolators under biosafety level 2 and were supplied with water and food *ad libitum*.

Fig. B: Specific pathogen free (SPF) chickens were inoculated intranasally with 100 μ l (10^{8.75} 50% EID₅₀) of 9a5b NDV mutant isolate.

3.1. Pathogenesis of the 9a5b NDV mutant isolate in the chicken pancreas Clinical signs

Clinical signs of NDV were transient and started from the third dpi in the form of inappetence, sleepiness, and diarrhoea and peaked at 4 and 5 dpi, with symptoms such as depression, lethargy, open-mouthed breathing with oral discharges, and closed eyes (Fig. 1). All symptoms began to decrease from 6 dpi, and the chickens resumed appetite to food. Only mild depression persisted until the end of the experiment (Fig. 2). All the inoculated chickens completed the experiment without any mortality. No clinical signs were observed in control chickens.

Gross pancreatic pathology

Grossly, the pancreas had slight congestion, oedema, and mottled appearance from 1 dpi to 3 dpi (Fig. 3). At 5 dpi, pale-whitish foci were observed on the surface of the pancreas which increased at the last day of the experiment (Fig. 4). No gross lesions were found in control chickens.

Histopathology of chicken pancreas

The histopathological findings in the chicken pancreas were summarised in Table 4. Lymphoid-like nodules were observed in peripancreatic soft tissue. At 12 hpi, slight infiltration of lymphocytes and macrophages in the peripancreatic soft tissue was observed (Fig. 5). The inflammatory reaction increased in intensity toward the end of the experiment (Fig. 6). The inflammation in the peripancreatic tissues occurred earlier than that in the pancreatic tissue (Table. 4). In the pancreas, mild infiltration of heterophils and mononuclear cells (lymphocytes and macrophages) in the interstitial tissue of the exocrine tissue was seen at 1 and 2 dpi. At 3 dpi, slight vacuolation and necrosis of pancreatic exocrine cells were observed, along with increased number of heterophils and mononuclear cells. By 5 dpi, some inflammatory nodules, mononuclear cells and heterophilic infiltration, mild to moderate necrosis and vacuolation of the exocrine cells were observed (Fig. 7). At 10 dpi, this necrotizing pancreatitis became more severe and involved all the exocrine portion of the pancreas. Necrotizing pancreatitis was characterized by destruction of the exocrine gland, severe vacuolation and infiltration of mononuclear cells (Fig. 8) and heterophils with marked lymphoid nodules proliferation. Mononuclear cells infiltration was prominent around the pancreatic duct, along with mild vacuolation of the duct epithelium. The main pancreatic ducts and their branches did not exhibit any obstructive lesions. The endocrine portion of the pancreas was not affected throughout the experiment and remained intact, except at 10 dpi, when the islets showed slight atrophy. No histological lesions were detected in control chickens.

NDV-nucleoprotein IHC in chicken pancreas

The immunohistochemical findings in the peripancreatic and pancreatic tissue were summarised in Table 5. Strong positive signals were observed in the macrophages and lymphocytes infiltrating the peripancreatic soft tissue from 1 dpi (Fig. 9) and monocytes within the blood vessels (Fig. 10). In the pancreatic tissue, NDV-positive signals were detected in the cytoplasm of the degenerated exocrine cells, within vacuolated lesions, and in macrophages at 5 dpi (Fig. 11). On the last day of the experiment, NDV-NP positive signals were more abundant in the necrotic pancreatic acinar cells (Fig. 12) and macrophages (Fig. 12 inset). The peripancreatic and the pancreatic tissues from the control group tested negative for NDV.

TEM

In the infected group, virus particles were seen in the cytoplasm of the exocrine cells at 10 dpi. The virus was enveloped and round in shape with a diameter of $200 \text{ nm} \sim 500 \text{ nm}$ (Fig. 13).

CD3 IHC in chicken pancreas

By 12 hpi, CD3-immunopositive cells were observed in the peripancreatic soft tissues and these cells started to infiltrate the adjacent pancreatic tissue (Fig. 14). CD3-positive cells infiltration in the pancreatic tissue increased with time (Fig. 15) and eventually diffused throughout the whole pancreas especially between the exocrine tissue (Fig. 16) and around pancreatic duct branches (Fig. 17), the pancreatic endocrine islets, and blood vessels by the last day of the experiment.

Insulin IHC in chicken pancreas

The immunohistochemical findings of insulin immunopostivity were summarised in Table 6. Compared with the control group (Fig. 18), insulin immunoreactivity in the endocrine islets was not affected throughout the infection, except on the last day of the experiment, when slight reduction of insulin immunopositive signals were seen in the pancreatic islets and most of the islets were surrounded by severe inflammatory reaction (Fig. 19).



3.2. Pathogenesis of the 9a5b NDV mutant isolate in the chicken kidney

Gross renal pathology

The findings are summarized in Table 7 and 8. Grossly, the kidneys were pale with mild lesions. Multifocal small whitish areas were observed in cross sections of kidneys in 2 and 3 chickens at 5 and10 dpi, respectively.

Histopathology of chicken kidney

Histologically, about 1~2 small lymphoid foci were observed in the interstitium of the kidney in 2 of the 5 control chickens and in the ureteral mucosa of all examined birds. Areas of hematopoiesis composed of red blood cells and granulocytes were observed in both control and infected birds. No histopathological changes were observed in infected kidneys at 6 and 12 hpi. At 1 dpi, 2 chickens had congestion, hemorrhage and marked mononuclear cell infiltration. At 2 and 3 dpi, 2 chickens in each had mild multifocal lymphohistiocytic tubulointerstitial nephritis within the cortex and lymphoid nodules were observed and gradually increased. The medullary cones were mildly dilated and infiltrated with heterophils and other mononuclear cells (Fig. 20). At 5 dpi, 3 chickens had moderate multifocal lesions and occasionally these lesions coalesced to form diffuse cortical tubulointerstitial nephritis (Fig. 21). Marked degeneration, necrosis, and apoptosis of the renal tubular epithelium in the cortical region were identified (Fig. 22). The medullary cone showed moderate dilatation and degeneration of its components (collecting tubules and ducts, medullary loops, and ureteral branches) associated with calcification and inflammatory reaction. At 10 dpi, 3 chickens had severe cortical tubulointerstitial nephritis. The medullary cones were markedly dilated and more severely damaged than the cortex. Mild to moderate interstitial fibrosis and protein casts were observed in the renal tubular lumen. Severe dystrophic calcification and inflammatory response were observed (Fig. 23). Clinical signs, gross and histopathologic lesions were absent in control chickens.

NDV-NP IHC in chicken kidney

Immunohistochemically, NDV-NP was detected in infected renal tissues at 1 dpi, followed by an increase in intensity and distribution at 2–5 dpi and then decreased or became absent by the final experimental day (Table 8). Most immunostaining for NDV-NP was distributed in a multifocal pattern in the intact (Fig. 24) and vacuolated epithelium of proximal and distal tubules (Fig. 22 *inset*), in infiltrating mononuclear cells, and occasionally in some cells of reptilian-type glomeruli in the cortex (Fig. 25). In the renal medulla, NDV-NP immunostaining was mainly present in the tubular epithelium and the infiltrating mononuclear cells. Kidney of control chickens was negative to NDV-NP IHC.

CD3 IHC in chicken kidney

CD3 positive cells were observed rarely in the interstitium of the kidneys in 2 chickens of the control group and in the ureteral mucosa of all control chickens. In

the infected renal tissues, infiltration of CD3 immunopositive cells commenced at 1 dpi (Fig. 26) and became marked at 10 dpi (Fig. 27). CD3 positive cells had focal and diffuse infiltration throughout the entire kidney (Fig. 28) and in areas with immunostaining signals of 9a5b NDV mutant isolate (Fig. 29).

Virus titration of chicken kidney

Virus titration results are summarized in Fig. 30. At 6 and 12 hpi, 9a5b NDV mutant isolate was not detected in kidneys. Virus was detected at 1 dpi, in one chicken at 1 dpi, in 2 chickens at 2 dpi, in all examined chickens at 3 and 5 dpi with a replication peak at 5 dpi, and in only one chicken at 10 dpi. No virus was detected in control chickens.

RT-PCR

RT-PCR was performed to detect the genome of NDV. The results in infected chicken kidneys coincided with IHC and virus titration results (Fig. 31). Kidneys of control chickens were negative by RT-PCR.







Fig. 31: RT-PCR of individual chicken kidneys after experimental infection with the 9a5b NDV mutant isoalte showed postive band at 168 pb.

Discussion

This study was conducted to investigate the pathological effect of the 9a5b NDV mutant isolate on chicken pancreas. The clinical signs were mild and were compatible with our previous report (Anis *et al.*, 2013a). Also, similar findings were observed for virulent NDV strains that does not produce much clinical disease (Dortmans *et al.*, 2011; Ecco *et al.*, 2011a; Susta *et al.*, 2011) although, those previously studied viruses were classified as virulent strains based on their ICPI and the sequence of F protein cleavage site (Susta *et al.*, 2011). Intracerebral inoculation, not being the natural way of infection, may lead to a difference in ICPI value when compared with the natural route of infection (Cattoli *et al.*, 2011; Dortmans *et al.*, 2011). In addition, NDV virulence is multigenic and the F gene is not the only key player in NDV virulence (De Leeuw *et al.*, 2005; Dortmans *et al.*, 2011; Huang *et al.*, 2004; Wakamatsu *et al.*, 2006b).

Viral replication and an associated inflammatory reaction occurred in the peripancreatic tissues and then in the pancreas. The virus most likely reached the peripancreatic tissues and pancreas at the same time by viraemia. Infiltrating CD3-positive cells were detected in the peripancreatic tissues as early as 12 hpi and these cells started to infiltrate the adjacent pancreatic tissue from this time. The infiltration extended within the pancreas, eventually

invading the entire exocrine pancreas. Moreover, NDV-NP signals were detected in macrophages and other lymphoid cells at 1 dpi in the peripancreatic tissue were then observed in the pancreas by 5 dpi. Additionally, in the present study and in a previous study on the same strain of NDV (Anis et al., 2013a), the gross and histological pancreatic lesions were mild until 5 or 6 dpi and then increased in severity and distribution, causing multifocal necrotizing pancreatitis (Kommers et al., 2003; Piacenti et al., 2006; Wakamatsu et al., 2006a). The same pattern of spread of inflammation in peripancreatic tissue has been reported previously for other viruses such as Rift valley fever virus (Gommet et al., 2011). The infected chickens had lymphoid-like nodules in their peripancreatic tissues, which were also infiltrated by macrophages and other lymphoid cells at an early stage after infection. In-vivo studies support the role of macrophages and other lymphoid cells in NDV replication and further dissemination to other tissues (Brown et al., 1999; Kommers et al., 2003; Wakamatsu et al., 2006a; Susta et al., 2011; Anis et al., 2013b; Lu et al., 2014). In addition, an in-vitro study confirmed that NDV could replicate within macrophages (Lam, 1996). Replication of NDV in macrophages disrupts their function and phagocytic ability (Lam, 1996; Qureshi, 1998; Qureshi et al., 2000). We speculate that the abundance of macrophages and other lymphoid elements in the peripancreatic tissues at an early stage after NDV infection provides a suitable environment for viral replication.

In this study, the exocrine portion of the pancreas is mainly affected by the 9a5b NDV mutant isolate infection while the endocrine islets were slightly affected at the last day of the experiment. It is possible that that the damage in the exocrine gland after NDV infection may be attributed to the proteases content in the exocrine cell which may enhance the viral replication. This hypothesis agrees with the results of previous reports (Gotoh *et al.*, 1992; Murphy *et al.*, 1999; Nagai, 1995), which suggested that NDV exhibits differences in tropism and virulence depending on the activation of a viral fusion protein precursor by cellular proteases.

The slight degenerative changes in the endocrine islets at the last day of the experiments (10 dpi) may explain the weaker and fainter insulin IHC-positive signals in the infected group than that of the control group. The endocrine islets appear to be resistant to NDV infection. The resistance of endocrine islets may be explained by the following: firstly, avian pancreas contains a high level of glutathione which is 10 times more than the level found in mammalian pancreas (Hazelwood, 2000). Glutathione was proposed to have a protective action against cytotoxic studies on avian endocrine beta cells (Hazelwood, 2000); therefore, may be a similar protective effect for glutathione in the endocrine

pancreas against viral infections is present. Secondly, differences in the tissue distribution of the cellular proteases like furin and proprotein convertase (PC2) and PC3) were previously mentioned. Furin is located on the Golgi membrane and ubiquitously present in a variety of tissues; while, PC2 and PC3 are only expressed in the endocrine tissues. Furin is completely capable of F protein gene cleavability of virulent viruses; on the other hand, PC2 and PC3 are fully incapable or partially capable of F protein gene cleavability. Cleavage by furin can increase the virus infectivity (Gotoh et al., 1992; Nagai, 1995). However, the real cause for endocrine resistance is still unknown which may need further studies. In the present study, changes in the endocrine islets may be secondary to the massive necrosis of the exocrine glands or may be due to indirect effect of the virus because NDV cannot be detected by IHC or by TEM in the endocrine cells. Late virus dissemination from the peripancreatic soft tissues into the pancreatic tissues is possible and this may explain the late dramatic massive extension of pancreatic necrosis from 5 dpi.

In conclusion, the 9a5b NDV mutant isolate infection in chicken induced inflammatory reaction and viral replication in the peripancreatic soft tissues earlier than in the pancreatic tissue; therefore, the peripancreatic soft tissues may play a preparatory role in late widespread necrotizing pancreatitis induced by NDV in chickens. Furthermore, necrosis affected mainly the exocrine
portion of the pancreas while the endocrine portion was generally unaffected by the NDV infection.

The second part of this study was performed to investigate the pathogenesis of NDV in the kidney of chickens after experimental infection with 9a5b NDV mutant isolate. To the best of our knowledge, there have been no previous studies that have addressed the relationship between histopathological alterations in chicken kidney tissues and NDV replication.

Nephrotropism of the 9a5b NDV mutant isolate in the chicken kidneys was confirmed by IHC, RT-PCR, and virus isolation from an early time after infection (1 dpi). Virus detection was consistent among these three methods and started at 1 dpi, peaked at 5 dpi, and diminished at 10 dpi. The histopathological changes in the kidneys of infected chickens were consistent with the viral replication. The 9a5b NDV mutant isolate caused severe degeneration and necrosis in the renal epithelium with positive viral immunostaining in both tubular epithelium and mononuclear cells as previously reported for other birds (Anis *et al.*, 2013a; Courtney *et al.*, 2012; Kuiken *et al.*, 1999; Piacenti *et al.*, 2006; Susta *et al.*, 2011). The virus distribution was in the cortex and medulla of kidney as previously described (Kuiken *et al.*, 1999) Moreover, in this study positive viral immunostaining were observed occasionally in some glomerular cells.

In this study, NDV tubulointerstitial nephritis can be classified into cortical tubulointerstitial nephritis and intratubular medullary cone nephritis as previously described in the case of AIV infection in chickens (Swayne and Slemons, 1990). The 9a5b NDV mutant isolate caused more severe tubulointerstitial nephritis in the renal medulla than in the cortex similar to findings with IBV infection in chickens (Albassam et al., 1986). In humans, the medulla is more susceptible to infection than the cortex due to the low pH, high osmolality, and high concentration of ammonia in the medulla (Schaeffer, 2001). In birds, the different susceptibility of the renal cortex and the medulla to infection is unknown as the pH is variable (Echols, 2005). Tubular injury in the medulla more likely results from plugging of the lumina by cell debris or calcified materials or both, subsequently increasing inflammation as proposed by others in the case of AIV infection in chickens (Swayne and Slemons, 1990). Loss of renal function combined with water deprivation during the peak of clinical signs may enhance the effect.

CD3-positive cells were the main inflammatory component in chicken kidneys as previously reported in chicken brain during NDV infection (Ecco *et al.*, 2011b). Infiltration of CD3-positive cells in the infected kidneys were associated with a decrease or complete absence of viral replication at 10 dpi.

In conclusion, the 9a5b NDV mutant isolate showed a nephrotropism to chicken kidneys early after infection (1 dpi). Tubulointerstitial nephritis was more severe in the renal medulla than in the cortex and the local inflammatory response may play a role in suppressing viral replication. Lesions that were caused by NDV in the kidneys of chickens were similar to those caused by AIV, IB, and ANV and this highlights the importance to include NDV in the differential diagnosis of kidney disease in chickens.

Summary and conclusion

This study aimed to investigate the pathology of NDV in two of the organs (pancreas and kidney) those are usually involved during NDV infection in several avian species. Moreover, scarce data are present regarding the pathogenesis of pancreatitis and nephritis in birds infected with NDV.

Usually with velogenic strains studies birds succumb to infection and die within 3-5 dpi. In the present study, the clinical signs were mild with no mortality in chickens after the infection with the velogenic 9a5b NDV mutant isolate. The 9a5b NDV mutant isolate has ICPI of 1.88 and the F protein cleavage site of virulent strains. This result can confirm that NDV virulence is multigenic and the F protein gene is not the only key player in virulence. In addition, intracerebral inoculation, not being the natural way of infection, may lead to a difference in ICPI value compared with the natural route of infection.

In the chicken pancreas, the 9a5b NDV infection induced inflammatory reaction and viral replication in the peripancreatic soft tissues earlier than in the pancreatic tissue; therefore, the peripancreatic soft tissues may play a supporting role in late widespread necrotizing pancreatitis induced by NDV. Furthermore, the exocrine portion of the pancreas was mainly affected while the endocrine portion was slightly resistant to the infection. Further studies are warranted to investigate the different susceptibility between the exocrine and the endocrine portion of the pancreas to NDV infections.

In the chicken kidney, the 9a5b NDV mutant isolate had a marked nephrotropism to chicken kidneys from an early time after infection (1 dpi). Kidneys might be implicated in the virus excretion and further transmission to other birds. Tubulointerstitial nephritis was more severe in the renal medulla than in the cortex. The local inflammatory response may play a role in suppressing viral replication. Lesions that were caused by NDV in the kidneys of chickens were similar to those caused by AIV, IB, and ANV and this highlights the importance to include NDV in the differential diagnosis of kidney disease in chickens.

References

Albassam, M.A., Winterfield, R.W. & Thacker, H.L. (1986). Comparison of the nephropathogenicity of four strains of infectious bronchitis virus. Avian Diseases; 30:468–476.

Alexander, D.J. & Allan, W.H. (1974). Newcastle disease virus pathotypes. Avian Pathology; 3:269–278.

Alexander, D.J. & Senne, D.A. (2008). Newcastle disease, other avian Paramyxoviruses and Pneumovirus infection. In: *Disease of Poultry*, 12th Edit., Saif, Y.M.(ed.), Iowa state university press, 75–100.

Alexander, D.J. (2000). Newcastle disease and other avian paramyxoviruses. Rev Sci Tech; 19:443–462.

Alexander, D.J. (2001). Gordon Memorial Lecture, Newcastle disease. British Poultry Science; 42: 5–22.

Alexander, D.J. (2003) Newcastle disease, other avian paramyxoviruses, and pneumovirus infection. In: *Diseases of Poultry*, 11th Edit., YM Saif, HJ Barnes, JR Glisson, AM Fadly, LR McDougald *et al*, (ed.). Ames, Iowa State Press, pp. 63–92.

Alexander, D.J., Hinshaw, V.S. & Collins, M.S. (1981). Characterization of viruses from doves representing a new serotype of avian paramyxoviruses. Archives of Virology; 68:265–269.

Alexander, D.J., Hinshaw, V.S., Collins, M.S. & Yamane, N. (1983a). Characterization of viruses which represent further distinct serotypes (PMV-8 and PMV-9) of avian paramyxoviruses. Archives of Virology; 78:29–36.

Alexander, D.J., Parsons, G. & Marshall, R. (1984). Infection of fowls with Newcastle disease virus by food contaminated with pigeon feces. Veterinary Record; 115:601–602.

Alexander, D.J., Pattison, M. & Macpherson, I. (1983b). Avian paramyxoviruses of PMV-3 serotype in British turkeys. Avian Pathology; 12:469–482.

Alexander, D.J., Wilson, G.W.C., Russell, P.H., Lister, S.A. & Parsons, G. (1985). Newcastle disease outbreaks in fowl in Great Britain during 1984. Veterinary Record; 117:429–434. Anis, Z., Morita, T., Azuma, K., Ito, H., Ito, T. & Shimada, A. (2013a). Comparative study on the pathogenesis of the generated 9a5b Newcastle disease virus mutant isolate between chickens and waterfowl. Veterinary Pathology; 50:638–647.

Anis, Z., Morita, T., Azuma, K., Ito, H., Ito, T. & Shimada, A. (2013b). Histopathological alterations in immune organs of chickens and ducks after experimental infection with virulent 9a5b Newcastle disease virus. Journal of Comparative Pathology; 149:82–93.

Bankowski, R.A., Almquist, J. & Dombrucki, J. (1981). Effect of paramyxovirus yucaipa on fertility, hatchability, and poult yield of turkeys. Avian Diseases; 25:517–520.

Barton, J.T., Bickford, A.A., Cooper, G.L., Charlton, B.R. & Cardona, C.J. (1992). Avian parmyxovirus type 1 infections in racing pigeons in California. I. Clinical signs, pathology, and serology. Avian Diseases; 36:463-468.

Beard, C.W. & Hanson, R.P. (1984). Newcastle disease. In:*Diseases of Poultry*, 8th Edit., Hofstad, M.S.,Barnes, H.J.,Calnek, B.W., Reid, W.M., Yoder,H.W. (ed.), Iowa State University Press, Ames, 452–470.

Bhaiyat, M.I., Ochiai, K., Itakura, C., Islam, MA & Kida, H. (1994). Brain lesions in young broiler chickens naturally infected with a mesogenic strain of Newcastle disease virus. Avian Pathology; 23:693–708.

Biancifiori, F. & Fioroni, A. (1983). An occurrence of Newcastle disease in pigeons: Virological and serological studies on the isolates. Comparative Immunology Microbiology Infectious Diseases; 6:247–252.

Biswal, G. & Morril, C.C. (1954). The pathology of the reproductive tract of laying pullets affected with Newcastle disease. Poultry Science; 33: 880–897.

Bivins, J.A., Miller, B.R. & Beaudette, F.R. (1950). Search for virus in eggs laid during recovery postinoculation with Newcastle disease virus. American Journal of Veterinary Research; 11:426–427.

Briand, F.X., Henry, A., Massin, P. & Jestin, V. (2012). Complete genomes sequence of a novel avian paramyxovirus. Journal of Virology; 86:7710.

Brown, C., King, D.J. & Seal, B.S. (1999). Pathogenesis of Newcastle disease in chickens experimentally infected with viruses of different virulence. Veterinary Pathology; 36, 125–132.

Burridge, M.J., Riemann, H.P. & Utterback, W.W. (1975). Methods of spread of

velogenic viscerotropic Newcastle disease virus in the Southern Californian epidemic of 1971–1973. Avian Diseases; 19:666–678.

Bwala, D.G., Clift, S. Duncan, N.M., Bisschop, S.P. & Oludayo, F.F. (2011). Determination of the distribution of lentogenic vaccine and virulent Newcastle disease virus antigen in the oviduct of SPF and commercial hen using immunohistochemistry. Research Veterinary Science; 93:520–528.

Calain, P. & Roux, L. (1993). The rule of six, a basic feature for efficient replication of Sendai virus defective interfering RNA. Journal of Virology; 67:4822–4830.

Capua, I., De Nardi, R., Beato, M.S., Terregino, C., Scremin, M. & Guberti, V. (2004). Isolation of an avian paramyxovirus type 9 from migratory waterfowl in Italy. Veterinary Record; 155:156.

Capua, I., Scacchia, M., Toscani, T. & Caporale, V. (1993). Unexpected isolation of virulent Newcastle disease virus from commercial embryonated fowls' eggs. Zentralbl Veterinarmed B; 40:609–612.

Cattoli, G., Susta, L., Terregino, C. & Brown, C. (2011). Newcastle disease: a review of field recognition and current methods of laboratory detection. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation; 23:637–656.

Chang, P.C., Hsieh, M.L., Shien, J.H., Graham, D.A., Lee, M.S. & Shieh, H.K. (2001). Complete nucleotide sequence of avian paramyxovirus type 6 isolated from ducks. Journal of General Virology; 82:2157–2168.

Chen, J.P. & Wang, C.H. (2002). Clinical epidemiologic and experimental evidence for the transmission of Newcastle disease virus through eggs. Avian Diseases; 46:461–465.

Courtney, S.C., Susta, L., Gomez, D., Hines, L., Pedersen, J.C, Brown, C. C., Miller, P.J. & Afonso, C.L. (2012). Highly divergent virulent isolates of Newcastle disease virus from the Dominican Republic are members of a new genotype that may have evolved unnoticed for over two decades. Journal of Clinical Microbiology; 51:508–517.

Crespo, R., Shivaprasad, H.L., Woolcock, P.R., Chin, R.P., Davidson-York, D. & Tarbell, R. (1999). Exotic Newcastle disease in a game chicken flock. Avian Diseases; 43:349–355.

Czeglédi, A., Ujvári, D., Somogyi, E., Wehmann, E., Werner, O. & Lomniczi, B. (2006). Third genome size category of avian paramyxovirus serotype 1 (Newcastle disease virus) and evolutionary implications. Virus Research; 120:36–48.

de Leeuw, O. & Peeters, B. (1999). Complete nucleotide sequence of Newcastle disease virus: evidence for the existence of a new genus within the subfamily Paramyxovirinae. Journal of General Virology; 80: 131–136.

de Leeuw, O.S., Koch, G., Hartog, L., Ravenshorst, N. & Peeters, B.P. (2005). Virulence of Newcastle disease virus is determined by the cleavage site of the fusion protein and by both the stem region and globular head of the haemagglutinin-neuraminidase protein. Journal of General Virology; 86:1759–1769.

Dortmans, J.C., Koch, G., Rottier, P.J.M. & Peeters, B.P. (2011). Virulence of Newcastle disease virus: what is known so far? Veterinary Research; 42:122.

Dortmans, J.C., Rottier, P.J.M., Koch, G. & Peeters, B.P. (2010). The viral replication complex is associated with the virulence of Newcastle disease virus. Journal of Virology; 84:10113–10120.

Doyle, T.M. (1927). A hitherto unrecorded disease of fowls due to a filter-passing virus. J Comparative Pathology Therapeut; 40:144–169. *Cited in*: Alexander and Senne, 2008.

Doyle, T.M. (1933). The virus diseases of animals with special reference to those of poultry. Journal of Comparative Pathology; 46:90–107.

Ecco, R., Brown, C., Susta, L., Cagle, C., Cornax, I., Pantin-Jackwood, M., Miller, P.J. & Afonso, C.L. (2011a). In vivo transcriptional cytokine responses and association with clinical and pathological outcomes in chickens infected with different Newcastle disease virus isolates using formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded samples. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology; 141: 221–229.

Ecco, R., Susta, L., Afonso, C.L., Miller, P.J. & Brown, C. (2011b). Neurological lesions in chickens experimentally infected with virulent Newcastle disease virus isolates. Avian Pathology; 40: 145–152.

Echols, M.S. (2005). Evaluating and treating the kidneys. In Harrison, G.J. and Lightfoot, T. (Eds.). Avian clinical medicine volume 2. Spix Publishing. pp. 451-492.

Edwards, J.T. (1927). A new fowl disease. Annual Report of the Imperial Institute of the Veterinary Research Mukteswar; 14-15.

El Tayeb, A.B. & Hanson, R.P. (2002). Interactions between *Escherichia coli* and Newcastle disease virus in chickens. Avian Diseases; 46:660–667.

Fornells, L.A., Silva, T.F., Bianchi, I., Travassos, C.E., Liberal, M.H., Andrade, C.M., Petrucci, M.P., Veiga, V.F., Vaslin, M.F. & Couceiro J.N. (2012). Detection of paramyxoviruses in Magellanic penguins (*Spheniscus magellanicus*) on the Brazilian tropical coast. Veterinary Microbiology; 156:429–433.

Francis, D.W. (1973). Newcastle and psittacines, 1970-1971. Poultry Dig; 32:16–19.

Ganar, K., Das, M., Sinha, S. & Kumar, S. (2014). Newcastle disease virus: current status and our understanding. Virus Research; 184:71–81.

Glickman, R.L., Syddall, R.J., Iorio, R.M., Sheehan, J.P. & Bratt, M.A. (1988). Quantitativebasic residue requirements in the cleavage-activation site of the fusion glyco-protein as a determinant of virulence for Newcastle disease virus. Journal of Virology; 62:354–356.

Gommet, C., Billecocq, A., Jouvion, G., Hasan, M., Zaverucha do Valle, T., Guillemot, L., Blanchet, Ch., van Rooijen, N., Montagutelli, X., Bouloy, M. & Panthier, J.J. (2011). Tissue tropism and target cells of NSs-deleted rift valley fever virus in live immunodeficient mice. PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases; 5:e1421.

Goraichuk, S., Poonam, K., Dimitrov, B., Stegniy, D., Muzyka, M., Pantin-Jackwood, A., Gerilovych, O., Solodiankin, V., Bolotin, O. R. & Afonso, C. (2016). Phylogenetic analysis of the complete genome of the APMV-13 isolate from Ukraine. 17th International Congress on Infectious Diseases/ International Journal of Infectious Diseases 45S 1–477. Abstract No 43.236

Gotoh, B., Ohnishi, Y., Inocencio, N.M., Esaki, E., Nakayama, K., Barr, P.J., Thomas, G. & Nagai, Y. (1992). Mammalian subtilisin-related proteinases in cleavage activation of the paramyxovirus fusion glycoprotein: superiority of furin/PACE to PC2 or PC1/PC3. Journal of Virology; 66:6391–6397.

Gough, R.E., & Alexander, D.J. (1983). Isolation and preliminary characterisation of a paramyxovirus from collared doves (Streptopelia decaocto). Avian Pathology; 12:125–134.

Gough, R.E., & Alexander, D.J. (1984). Avian paramyxovirus type 4 isolated from a ringed teal (*Calonetta leucophrys*). Veterinary Record; 115:653.

Gough, R.E., Manvell, R.J., Drury, S.E., Naylor, P.F., Spackman, D. & Cooke, S.W. (1993). Deaths in budgerigars associated with a paramyxovirus-like agent. Veterinary Record; 133:123.

Halasz, F. (1912). Contributions to the knowledge of fowl pest. Vet Doctoral Dissertation. Commun Hungar Roy Vet Schl: Patria, Budapest; 1-36. *Cited in*: Alexander and Senne, 2008.

Hamaguchi, M., Yoshida, T., Nishikawa, K., Naruse, H. & Nagai, Y. (1983). Transcriptive complex of Newcastle disease virus. I. Both L and P proteins are required to constitute an active complex. Journal of Virology; 128:105–117.

Hamid, H., Campbell, R.S & Lamichhane, C. (1990). The pathology of infection of chickens with the lentogenic V4 strain of Newcastle disease virus. Avian Pathology; 19:687–696.

Hanson, R.P. & Brandly, C.A. (1955). Identification of vaccine strains of Newcastle disease virus. Science; 122:156–157.

Hanson, R.P. (1972). Worldwide spread of viscerotropic Newcastle Disease. Proceedings of the 76th meeting of the U.S. Animal Health Association, Florida, 276–279.

Hanson, R.P., Spalatin, J. & Jacobson, G.S. (1973). The viscerotropic pathotype of Newcastle disease virus. Avian Diseases; 17:354–361.

Harrison, L., Brown, C., Afonso, C., Zhang, J. & Susta, L. (2011). Early occurrence of apoptosis in lymphoid tissues from chickens infected with strains of newcastle disease virus of varying virulence. Journal of Comparative Pathology; 145:327–335.

Hazelwood, R. (2000). Pancreas. In: *Sturkie's Avian Physiology*, 5th Edit., Whittow, G.C. (Ed.), San Diego, US, Academic Press, pp. 539–555

Herczeg, J., Pascucci, S., Massi, P., Luini, M., Selli, L., Capua, I. & Lomniczi, B. (2001). A longitudinal study of velogenic Newcastle disease virus genotypes isolated in Italy between 1960 and 2000. Avian Pathology; 30: 163–168.

Higgins, D.A. (1971). Nine disease outbreaks associated with myxoviruses among ducks in Hong Kong. Tropical Animal Health Production; 3:232–240.

Hightower, L. W. & Bratt, M. A. (1974). Protein synthesis in Newcastle disease virus-infected chicken embryo cells. Journal of Virology; 13:788–800.

Hines, N.L. & Miller, C.L. (2012). Avian paramyxovirus serotype-1: a review of disease distribution, clinical symptoms, and laboratory diagnostics. Veterinary Medecine International; 708216.

Huang, Z., Krishnamurthy, S., Panda, A. & Samal, S. K. (2003). Newcastle disease virus V protein is associated with viral pathogenesis and functions as an alpha interferon antagonist. Journal of Virology; 77:8676–8685.

Huang, Z., Panda, A., Elankumaran, S., Govindarajan, D., Rockemann, D.D. & Samal, S.K. (2004). The hemagglutinin neuraminidase protein of Newcastle disease virus determines tropism and virulence. Journal of Virology; 78:4176–4184.

Jeon, W.J., Lee, E.K., Kwon, J.H. & Choi, K.S. (2008). Full length genome sequence of avian paramyxovirus type 4 isolated from a mallard duck. Virus Genes; 37:342–350.

Kaleta, E.F. & Baldauf, C. (1988). Newcastle disease in free living and pet birds. In: *Newcastle Disease*, 1st Edit., Alexander, D.J. (ed.), Kluwer Academic Publisher, Boston, pp. 197–246.

Kaleta, E.F., Alexander, D.J. & Russell, P.H. (1985). The first isolation of the PMV-I virus responsible for the current panzootic in pigeons? Avian Pathology; 14:553–557.

Kaleta, E.F., Werner, O. & Hemberger, Y. (2010). Isolation and characterization of avian paramyxovirus type 3b from farmed Namibian ostriches (*Struthio camelus f. dom.*). Berl Munch Tierarztl Wochenschr; 123:103–110.

Kapczynski, D.R., Afonso, C.L. & Miller, P.J. (2013). Immune responses of poultry to Newcastle disease virus. Developmental and Comparative Immunology; 41:447–453.

Kazachka, D. (2008). Ultrastructural Changes of the Chickens Lungs after Aerosol Vaccination against Newcastle Disease, Biotechnology & Biotechnological Equipment; 22: 849–855

Kommers, G.D., King, D.J., Seal, B.S. & Brown CC. (2003). Pathogenesis of chicken-passaged Newcastle disease viruses isolated from chickens and wild and exotic birds. Avian Diseases; 47:319–329.

Kommers, G.D., King, D.J., Seal, B.S. & Brown, C.C. (2001). Virulence of pigeonorigin Newcastle disease virus isolates for domestic chickens. Avian Diseases; 45:906–921.

Kommers, G.D., King, D.J., Seal, B.S., Carmichael, K.P. & Brown, C.C. (2002). Pathogenesis of six pigeon-origin isolates of Newcastle disease virus for domestic chickens. Veterinary Pathology; 39:353–362.

Kotani, T., Odagiri, Y., Nakamura, J. & Horiuchi, T. (1987). Pathological changes of tracheal mucosa in chickens infected with lentogenic Newcastle disease virus. Avian Diseases; 31:491–497.

Kraneveld, F.C. (1926). A poultry disease in the Dutch East Indies. Ned IndischBlDiergeneeskd; 38,448–450. *Cited in*: Alexander and Senne, 2008.

Kuiken, T., Wobeser, G., Leighton, F.A., Haines, D.M., Chelack, B., Bogdan, J., Hassard, L., Heckert, R.A. & Riva, J. (1999). Pathology of Newcastle disease in double-crested cormorants from Saskatchewan, with comparison of diagnostic methods. J Wildlife Disease; 35:8–23.

Kumar, S., Nayak, B., Collins, P.L. & Samal, S.K. (2008). Complete genome sequence of avian paramyxovirus type 3 reveals an unusually long trailer region. Virus Research; 137:189–197.

Lam, K. M. (1996a). Newcastle disease virus–induced apoptosis in the peripheral blood mononuclear cells of chickens. Journal of Comparative Pathology; 114:63–71.

Lam, K. M. (1996b). Ultrastructural changes in the cardiac muscle of chickens infected with the GB strain of Newcastle disease virus. Journal of Comparative Pathology; 114:73–79.

Lam, K. M. (1996c). Growth of Newcastle disease virus in chicken macrophages. Journal of Comparative Pathology. 115: 253–263..

Lamb, R. & Parks, G. (2007). Paramyxoviridae: the viruses and their replication. In:Knipe, D.M., Howley, P.M., Griffin, D.E., Lamb, R.A., Martin, M.A., Roizman, B.,Straus, S.E. (Eds.), Fields Virology., 5th (ed.), Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, pp. 1449–1496.

Lamb, R. A., Collins, P. L., Olakofsky, D. K., Melero, A., Nagai, Y., Moldstone, B. A., Pringle, C. R. & Rima, B. K. (2005). Family Pararnyxoviridae. In C. M. Fauquet, M. A. Mayo, 1. Maniloff, U. Desselberger, and L. A. Ball (eds.) Virus Taxonomy, Eighth Report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. Elsevier Academic Press, San Diego, 65–68.

Lamb, R.A., Kolakofsky, D. (2001). Paramyxoviridae: the virus and their replication. In: *Fields Virology*, 4th Edit., Knipe, D.M. & Howley, P.M. (ed.) Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, Philadelphia, 1305–1340. Lancaster, J.E. & Alexander, D.J. (1975). Newcastle disease-virus and spread, a review of some of the literature. Canada Department of Agriculture, Monograph No. 11.

Lancaster, J.E. (1963). Newcastle disease-modes of spread. Veterinary Bulletin; 33:221–226.

Lee, D.H., Kwon, J.H., Noh, J.Y., Park, J.K., Yuk, S.S., Erdene-Ochir, T.O, Nahm, S.S., Kwon, Y. K., Lee, S.W. & Song, C.S. (2016). Viscerotropic velogenic Newcastle disease virus replication in feathers of infected chickens. Journal of Veterinary Science; 17:115–117

Levine, P.P. (1964). World dissemination of Newcastle disease. In: *Newcastle Disease, An Evolving Pathogen*, Hanson, R. P. (ed.), University of Wisconsin Press, Madison; WI,65–69.

Li, X., Chai, T., Wang, Z., Song, C., Cao, H., Liu, J., Zhang, X., Wang, W., Yao, M. & Miao, Z. (2009). Occurrence and transmission of Newcastle Disease Virus aerosol originating from infected chickens under experimental conditions. Veterinary Microbiology; 136:226–232.

Lipkind, M.A., Weisman, Y., Shihmanter, E., Shoham, D. & Aronovici, A. (1979). The isolation of yucaipa-like paramyxoviruses from epizootics of a respiratory disease in turkey poultry farms in Israel. Veterinary Record; 105:577–578.

Lomniczi, B., Wehmann, E., Herczeg, J., Ballagi-Pordany, A., Kaleta, E.F., Werner, O., Meulemans, G., Jorgensen, P.H., Mante, A.P., Gielkens, A.L.J., Capua, I. & Damoser, J. (1998). Newcastle disease outbreaks in recent years in Western Europe were caused by an old (VO) and a novel genotype (VII). Archives of Virology; 143:49–64.

Lu, A., Diao, Y., Chen, H., Wang, J., Ge, P., Sun, X. & Hao, D. (2014). Evaluation of histopathological changes, viral load and immune function of domestic geese infected with Newcastle disease virus. Avian Pathology; 43:325–332.

Macpherson, L.W. (1956). Some Observations on the Epizootiology of Newcastle disease. Canadian Journal of Comparative Medicine and Veterinary Science; 20:155–168.

Maeda, M., Imada, T., Taniguchi, T. & Horiuchi, T. (1979). Pathological Changes in Chicks Inoculated with the picornavirus "avian nephritis virus". Avian Diseases; 23:589–596.

Mast, J., Nanbru, C., van den Berg, T. & Meulemans, G. (2005). Ultrastructural changes of the tracheal epithelium after vaccination of day-old chickens with the LaSota strain of Newcastle disease virus. Veterinary Pathology; 42:559–565.

Mazija, H., Cajavec, S., Ergotic, N., Ciglar-Grozdanic, I., Gottstein, Z., & Ragland, W.L. (2010). Immunogenicity and safety of Queensland V4 and Ulster 2C strains of Newcastle disease virus given to maternally immune, newly hatched chickens by nebulization. Avian Diseases; 54:99–103.

Meulemans, G., Gonze, M., Carlier, M.C., Petit, P., Burny, A. & Long, L. (1986). Protective effects of HN and F glycoprotein-specific monoclonal antibodies on experimental Newcastle disease. Avian Pathology; 15:761–768.

Miller, P.J. & Koch, G. (2013). Newcastle disease. In: *Diseases of Poultry*, 13th Edit., Swayne, D.E., Glisson, J.R., McDougald, L.R., Nolan, L.K., Suarez, D.L. & Nair, V. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Ames, Iowa; pp. 89–107.

Mundt, E. (2013). Newcastle disease. In: *Diseases of Poultry*, 13th Edit., Swayne, D.E., Glisson, J.R., McDougald, L.R., Nolan, L.K., Suarez, D.L. & Nair, V. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Ames, Iowa; pp. 107–112.

Murphy, F.A., Gibbs, E.P.J., Horzinek, M.C. & Studdert, M.J. (1999). Paramyxoviridae. In: *Veterinary Virology* 3rd Edit., US, Academic Press, pp. 411–428

Mustaffa-Babjee, A., Spradbrow, P.B. & Samuel, J.L. (1974). A pathogenic paramyxovirus from a budgerigar (*Melopsittacus undulatus*). Avian Diseases; 18:226–230.

Nagai, Y. (1995). Virus activation by host proteinases. A pivotal role in the spread of infection, tissue tropism and pathogenicity. Microbiology and Immunology; 39:1–9.

Nagy, E., Krell, P.J., Dulac, G.C. & Derbyshire, J.B. (1991). Vaccination against Newcastle disease with a recombinant baculovirus hemagglutinin-neuraminidase subunit vaccine. Avian Diseases; 35:585–590.

Nakamura, K., Ohta, Y., Abe, Y., Imai, K. & Yamada, M. (2004). Pathogenesis of conjunctivitis caused by Newcastle disease viruses in specific-pathogen-free chickens. Avian Pathology; 33:371–376.

Nakamura, K., Ohtsu, N., Nakamura, T., Yamamoto, Y., Yamada, M., Mase, M. & Imai, K. (2008). Pathologic and immunohistochemical studies of Newcastle disease

(ND) in broiler chickens vaccinated with ND: severe nonpurulent encephalitis and necrotizing pancreatitis. Veterinary Pathology; 45:928–933.

Nakamura, K., Ueda, H., Tanimura, T. & Noguchi, K. (1994). Effect of mixed live vaccine (Newcastle disease and infectious bronchitis) and Mycoplasma gallisepticum on the chicken respiratory tract and on *Escherichia coli* infection. Journal of Comparative Pathology; 111:33–42.

Nayak, B., Dias, F.M., Kumar, S., Paldurai, A., Collins, P.L. & Samal, S.K. (2012). Avian paramyxovirus serotypes 2–9 (APMV-2-9) vary in the ability to induce protective immunity in chickens against challenge with virulent Newcastle disease virus (APMV-1). Vaccine; 30: 2220–2227.

Nayak, B., Kumar, S., Collins, P.L. & Samal, S.K. (2008). Molecular characterization and complete genome sequence of avian paramyxovirus type 4 prototype strain duck/Hong Kong/D3/75. Journal of Virology; 5: 124.

Nerome, K., Nakayama, M., Ishida, M. & Fukumi, H. (1978). Isolation of a new avian paramyxovirus from budgerigar (Melopsittacus undulatus). Journal of General Virology; 38:293–301.

Njagi, L.W., Mbuthia, P.G., Nyaga, Ph.N., Bebora, L.C. & Minga, U.M. (2012). Viral nucleoprotein localization and lesions of Newcastle disease in tissues of indigenous ducks. Tropical Animal Health Production; 44:747–750.

OIE. (2012). Manual of diagnostic tests and vaccines for terrestrial animals: mammals, birds and bees. Biological Standards Commission, Vol. 1, Part 2, Chapter 2.03.14. OIE, Paris; 1–19.

Paldurai, A., Subbiah, M., Kumar, S., Collins, P.L. & Samal, S.K. (2009). Complete genome sequences of avian paramyxovirus type 8 strains goose/Delaware/1053/76 and pintail/Wakuya/20/78. Virus Research; 142: 144–153.

Panda, A., Huang, Z., Elankumaran, S., Rockemann, D.D. & Samal, S.K. (2004). Role of fusion protein cleavage site in the virulence of Newcastle disease virus. Microbial Pathogenesis; 36: 1–10.

Pantua, H.D., McGinnes, L.W., Peeples, M.E. & Morrison, T.G. (2006). Requirements for the assembly and release of Newcastle disease virus-like particles. Journal of Virology; 80: 11062–11073. Pearson, J.E., Senne, D.A., Alexander, D.J., Taylor, W.D., Peterson, L.A. & Russell, P.H. (1987). Characterization of Newcastle disease virus (avian paramyxovirus-1) isolated from pigeons. Avian Diseases; 31:105–111.

Peeters, B.P.H., Gruijthuijsen, Y.K., de Leeuw, O.S. & Gielkens, A.L.J. (2000). Genome replication of Newcastle disease virus: Involvement of the rule-of-six. Archives of Virology; 145:1829–1845.

Piacenti, A.M., King, D.J., Seal, B.S., Zhang, J., Brown, C.C. (2006). Pathogenesis of Newcastle disease in commercial and specific pathogen-free turkeys experimentally infected with isolates of different virulence. Veterinary Pathology; 43:168–178.

Prier, J.E., Millen, T.W. & Alberts, J.O. (1950). Studies on Newcastle disease. IV. The presence of Newcastle disease virus in eggs of hens vaccinated with live vaccine. Journal of American Veterinary Medicine Association; XX6: 54–55.

Qureshi, M.A. (1998). Role of macrophages in avian health and disease. Poultry Science; 77:978–982.

Qureshi, M.A., Heggen, C.L. & Hussain, I. (2000). Avian macrophage: effector functions in health and disease. Developmental and Comparative Immunology; 24:103–119.

Raszewska, H. (1964). Occurence of the LaSota strain (NDV) in the reproductive tract of laying hens. Bulletin-Veterinary Institute in Pulawy; 8:130–136.

Reed, L.J. & Muench, H.A. (1938). A simple method of estimating fifty percent endpoints. American Journal of Epidemiology; 27:493–497.

Robert A, L. (1993). Paramyxovirus Fusion: A Hypothesis for Changes. Journal of Virology; 197:1–11.

Romer-Oberdorfer, A., Werner, O., Veits, J., Mebatsion, T. & Mettenleiter, T.C. (2003). Contribution of the length of the HN protein and the sequence of the F protein cleavage site to Newcastle disease virus pathogenicity. Journal of General Virology; 84 (Pt 11):3121–3129.

Roy, P. & Venugopalan, A.T. (2005). Unexpected Newcastle disease virus in day old commercial chicks and breeder hen. Comparative Immunology Microbiology and Infectious Diseases; 28:277–285.

Saif, Y.M., Mohan, R., Ward, L., Senne, D.A., Panigrahy, B. & Dearth, R.N. (1997). Natural and experimental infection of turkeys with avian paramyxovirus-7. Avian Diseases; 41:326–329.

Samuel, A., Nayak, B., Paldurai, A., Xiao, S., Aplogan, G.L., Awoume, K.A., Webby, R.J., Ducatez, M.F., Collins, P.L. & Samal, S.K. (2012). Phylogenetic and pathotypic characterization of Newcastle disease viruses circulating in West Africa and the efficacy of a current vaccine. Journal of Clinical Microbiology; 51:771–781.

Samuel, A.S., Kumar, S., Madhuri, S., Collins, P.L. & Samal, S.K. (2009). Complete sequence of the genome of avian paramyxovirus type 9 and comparison with other paramyxoviruses. Virus Research; 142: 10–18.

Samuel, A.S., Paldurai, A., Kumar, S., Collins, P.L. & Samal, S.K. (2010). Complete genome sequence of avian paramyxovirus (APMV) serotype 5 completes the analysis of nine APMV serotypes and reveals the longest APMV genome. PLoS One; 5: e9269.

Schaeffer, A. j. (2001). What do we know about the urinary tract infection–prone individual? Journal of Infectious Diseases; Supplement 1, 183: S66–S69.

Scheid, A. & Choppin, P.W. (1974). Identification of biological activities of paramyxovirus glycoproteins. Activation of cell fusion, hemolysis, and infectivity of proteolytic cleavage of an inactive precursor protein of Sendai virus. Journal of Virology; 57:475–490.

Seal, B.S., King, D.J. & Sellers, H.S. (2000). The avian response to Newcastle disease virus. Developmental and Comparative Immunology; 24:257–268.

Seal, B.S., Wise, M.G., Pedersen, J.C., Senne, D.A., Alvarez, R., Scott, M.S., King, D.J., Yu, Q. & Kapczynski, D.R. (2005). Genomic sequences of low-virulence avian paramyxovirus-1 (Newcastle disease virus) isolates obtained from live-bird markets in North America not related to commonly utilized commercial vaccine strains. Veterinary Microbiology; 106:7–16.

Senne, D.A., Pearson, J.E., Miller, L.D. & Gustafson, G.A. (1983). Virus Isolations from Pet Birds Submitted for Importation into the United States. Avian Diseases; 27:731–744.

Shengqing, Y., Kishida, N., Ito, H., Kida, H., Otsuki, K., Kawaoka, Y. & Ito, T. (2002) Generation of Velogenic Newcastle Disease Viruses from a Nonpathogenic Waterfowl Isolate by Passaging in Chickens. Journal of Virology, 301, 206–211.

Silva, M.S.E., Susta, L., Moresco, K. & Swayne, D.E. (2016). Vaccination of chickens decreased Newcastle disease virus contamination in eggs. Avian Pathology; 45: 38–45.

Spradbrow, P.B. (1988). Geographical Distribution. In: *Newcastle Disease*. Edited by: Alexander, D.J. Boston: Kluwer Academic Publishers; 247–255.

Steward, M., Vipond, I.B., Millar, N.S. & Emmerson, P.T. (1993). RNA editing in Newcastle disease virus. Journal of General Virology; 74 (Pt 12): 2539–2547.

Subbiah, M., Xiao, S., Collins, P.L. & Samal, S.K. (2008). Complete sequence of the genome of avian paramyxovirus type 2 (strain Yucaipa) and comparison with other paramyxoviruses. Virus Research; 137: 40–48.

Susta, L., Jones, M.E., Cattoli, G., Cardenas-Garcia, S., Miller, P.J., Brown, C.C. & Afonso, C.L. (2014). Pathologic characterization of genotypes XIV and XVII Newcastle disease viruses and efficacy of classical vaccination on specific pathogen-free birds. Veterinary Pathology; doi:10.1177/0300985814521247.

Susta, L., Miller, P.J., Afonso, C.L. & Brown, C.C. (2011). Clinicopathological characterization in poultry of three strains of Newcastle disease virus isolated from recent outbreaks. Veterinary Pathology; 48:349–360.

Swayne, D.E. & Slemons, R.D. (1990). Renal pathology in specific-pathogen-free chickens inoculated with a waterfowl-origin type A Influenza virus. Avian Diseases; 34:285–294.

Takimoto, T., Taylor, G.L., Connaris, H.C., Crennell, S.J. & Portner, A. (2002) Role of the Hemagglutinin-Neuraminidase Protein in the Mechanism of Paramyxovirus-Cell Membrane Fusion. Journal of Virology; 76:13028-13033.

Terregino, C., Aldous, E.W., Heidari, A., Fuller, C.M., De Nardi, R., Manvell, R.J., Beato, M.S., Shell, W.M., Monne, I., Brown, I.H., Alexander, D.J. & Capua, I. (2013). Antigenic and genetic analyses of isolate APMV/wigeon/Italy/3920-1/2005 indicate that it represents a new avian paramyxovirus (APMV-12). Archives of Virology; 158:2233–2243.

Thekisoe, M.M.O., Mbati, P.A. & Bisschop, S.P.R. (2004). Different approaches to the vaccination of free ranging village chickens against Newcastle disease in Qwa-Qwa, South Africa. Veterinary Microbiology; 101:23–30.

Toyoda, T., Sakaguchi, T., Imai, K., Inocencio, N.M., Gotoh, B., Hamaguchi, M. & Nagai, Y. (1987). Structural comparison of the cleavage-activation site of the fusion gly-coprotein between virulent and avirulent strains of Newcastle disease virus.

Journal of Virology; 158: 242-247.

Tsunekuni, R., Ito, H., Otsuki, K., Kida, H. & Ito, T. (2010). Genetic comparisons between lentogenic Newcastle disease virus isolated from waterfowl and velogenic variants. Virus Genes; 40, 252–255.

Tumova, B., Robinson, J.H. & Easterday, B.C. (1979a). A hitherto unreported paramyxovirus of turkeys. Research in Veterinary Science; 27:135–40.

Tumova, B., Stumpa, A., Janout, V., Uvizl, M. & Chmela, J. (1979b). A Further member of the Yucaipa group isolated from the common wren (*Troglodytes troglodytes*). Acta Virology; 23:504–507.

Wakamatsu, N., King, D.J., Kapczynski, D.R., Seal, B.S. & Brown, C.C. (2006a). Experimental Pathogenesis for Chickens, Turkeys, and Pigeons of Exotic Newcastle Disease Virus from an Outbreak in California during 2002-2003. Veterinary Pathology; 43:925–933.

Wakamatsu, N., King, D.J., Seal, B.S., Samal, S.K. & Brown, C.C. (2006b). The pathogenesis of Newcastle disease: A comparison of selected Newcastle disease virus wild-type strains and their infectious clones. Journal of Virology; 353:333–343.

Walker, J.W., Heron, B.R. & Mixson, M.A. (1973). Exotic Newcastle disease eradication program in the United States. Avian Diseases; 17:486–503.

Wan, H., Chen, L., Wu, L. & Liu, X. (2004). Newcastle disease in geese: natural occurrence and experimental infection. Avian Pathology; 33:216–221.

Warke, A., Stallknecht, D., Williams, S.M., Pritchard, N. & Mundt, E. (2008). Comparative study on the pathogenicity and immunogenicity of wild bird isolates of avian paramyxovirus 2, 4, and 6 in chickens. Avian Pathology; 37:429–434.

Wilczynski, S.P., Cook, M.L. & Stevens, J.G. (1977). Newcastle disease as a model for paramyxovirus-induced neurologic syndromes. II: Detailed characterization of the encephalitis. American Journal of Pathology; 89:649–666.

Wise, M.G., Sellers, H.S., Alvarez, R. & Seal, B.S. (2004). RNA-dependent RNA polymerase gene analysis of worldwide Newcastle disease virus isolates representing different virulence types and their phylogenetic relationship with other members of paramyxoviridae. Virus Research; 104:71–80.

Woolcock, P.R., Moore, J.D., McFarland, M.D. & Panigrahy, B. (1996). Isolation of paramyxovirus serotype 7 from ostriches (Struthio camelus). Avian Diseases; 40:945–949.

Xiao, S., Paldurai, A., Nayak, B., Subbiah, M., Collins, P.L. & Samal, S.K. (2009). Complete genome sequence of avian paramyxovirus type 7 (strain Tennessee) and comparison with other paramyxoviruses. Virus Research; 145: 80–91.

Xiao, S., Subbiah, M., Kumar, S., De Nardi, R., Terregino, C., Collins, P.L. & Samal, S.K. (2010). Complete genome sequences of avian paramyxovirus serotype 6 prototype strain Hong Kong and a recent novel strain from Italy: evidence for the existence of subgroups within the serotype. Virus Research; 150: 61–72.

Yamamoto, E., Ito, H., Tomioka, Y. & Ito, T. (2015). Characterization of novel avian paramyxovirus strain APMV/Shimane67 isolated from migratory wild geese in Japan. Journal of Veterinary Medicine Science; 77:1079–1085.

Yamane, N., Arikawa, J., Odagiri, T. & Ishida, N. (1982). Characterization of avian paramyxoviruses isolated from feral ducks in northern Japan: the presence of three distinct viruses in nature. Microbiology Immunology; 26:557–568.

Yusoff, K. & Tan, W.S. (2001). Newcastle disease virus: macromolecules and opportunities. Avian Pathology; 30:439–455.

Yusoff, K., Millar, N.S., Chambers, P. & Emmerson, P.T. (1987). Nucleotide sequence analysis of the L gene of Newcastle disease virus: homologies with Sendai and vesicular stomatitis viruses. Nucleic Acids Research; 15: 3961–3976.

Zanetti, F., Mattiello, R., Garbino, C., Kaloghlian, A., Terrera, M.V., Boviez, J., Palma, E., Carrillo, E. & Berinstein, A. (2001). Biological and molecular characterization of a pigeon paramyxovirus type-1 isolate found in Argentina. Avian Diseases; 45:567–571.

Zhang, S., Wang, X., Zhao, C., Liu, D., Hu, Y., Zhao, J. & G. Zhang. (2011). Phylogenetic and pathotypical analysis of two Virulent Newcastle Disease Viruses isolated from domestic ducks in China. Plos One; 6: e25000.